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PARK ELECTROCHEMICAL CORP. is a global advanced materials company which develops and manufactures 

advanced composite materials, primary and secondary structures and assemblies and low-volume tooling for 

the aerospace markets and high-technology digital and RF/microwave printed circuit materials principally 

for the telecommunications and internet infrastructure, enterprise and military markets. The Company’s 

manufacturing facilities are located in Kansas, Singapore, France, Arizona and California. The Company also 

maintains R & D facilities in Arizona, Kansas and Singapore.
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Reinventing Park into a Niche Company

In last year’s Annual Report letter, I discussed the  

need for Park to reinvent itself into a Niche Company 

in order to have a future. We defined a Niche  

Company as a company which does what others 

are unwilling or unable to do, a company which  

says “Yes” when others say “No”. But, in order to  

reinvent Park into a Niche Company, we at Park must 

change who we are on the inside and reinvent ourselves 

into Niche People. Niche People are people who  

shun and despise mediocrity and embrace and love  

Greatness. We at Park must become despisers of 

mediocrity and lovers of Greatness in order for Park 

to become a company which does what others are 

unable or unwilling to do, a company which says “Yes” 

when others say “No”, a company which says “Yes” 

when it does not even seem possible to say “Yes”…a  

Niche Company. Only talking about it or hoping for  

it will not make Park a Niche Company…we must 

change who we are on the inside.

We are what we want to be in life and in business.  

If we accept mediocrity, we will be mediocre. If we 

stop pushing forward when mediocrity has been 

achieved, we have chosen to be mediocre. But Niche 

People never accept mediocrity. Niche People go for 

Greatness and Glory. Niche People never stop, never 

quit, never relent until Success has been achieved 

and Victory is theirs. For Park, mediocrity is failure.  

But Niche People never accept failure. For Niche  

People, failure is just not an option. Some people 

say, “If it ain’t broke, don’t fix it.” In other words, if  

things are kind of working okay and we are kind 

of getting away with it, just let things be. But Niche 

People say, “If it ain’t broke, fix it anyway, and fix it 

right NOW!” If we choose mediocrity, then Park will  

be a mediocre company…and Park will die. If we  

choose Greatness, then Park will be a Great Company,  

a Niche Company…and Park will have a Glorious future. 

Niche People choose Greatness. 

Niche Teams

There is one more important thing to understand  

about Niche People. Niche People naturally seek out 

and band together with like minded people to form 

Niche Teams. Niche People multiply their power 

by forming Niche Teams. Members of Niche Teams 

help and support and back up other Niche Team  

Members no matter what. Niche Team Members have 

each other’s backs. Niche Team Members think of  

other Niche Team Members before thinking of 

themselves. Niche Team Members share common 

objectives. Niche Team Members share their love for 

Greatness. Niche Teams are all-powerful, unstoppable.

Last year, a strong and cohesive Niche Team was 

formed at our Park Aerospace Technologies Corp. 

(PATC) Business Unit in Newton, Kansas, and this 

A MESSAGE FROM THE
CHAIRMAN & CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Brian E. Shore, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer
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Team is gaining strength and power every day. This 

PATC Niche Team is now leading PATC and Park’s 

entire Aerospace Business. One of the Members of the  

PATC Niche Team recently told me that, for the first 

time, he does not feel alone, and that, when taking 

on the most difficult challenges, he knows his fellow 

Niche Team Members are there to back him up  

no matter what. We are hoping that more Niche  

Teams will form at Park in the near future, but the 

formation and growing success of the PATC Niche 

Team bodes very well for the future of PATC and 

Park’s Aerospace Business. You might read the Article 

entitled “Aerospace Composite Parts…a Niche Story” 

on pages 10 and 11 of this Report for additional insight 

into the activities of our PATC Niche Team.

Special Mission Niche Story

Some months ago, our PATC people were working 

on a one-off, large, complex composite pod for a 

Special Mission aircraft modification project. Special 

Mission aircraft are commonly used for Intelligence, 

Surveillance and Reconnaissance (ISR) missions. 

This large composite pod was used to house radar 

and other surveillance equipment and contained  

numerous inspection panels and radomes. The project 

involved multiple last minute design changes, tooling 

repair, part modifications and repair and certification 

support activities. Many curve balls and screw balls  

were tossed our way, which meant our Niche People 

loved the project, as Niche People thrive on adversity 

and challenges. Now, there are three things about 

Special Mission modification projects which you  

should know. First, they typically are very tight  

timeline projects, because, once the end customer 

decides to proceed with the Special Mission mod, the  

end customer wants it yesterday, as the mission has 

already been defined and the need already exists.  

Second, the projects are usually secret, and therefore, 

when working on these projects, it is not possible for  

us to reach out and tap in to outside resources for help 

with difficult and quirky problems which invariably 

arise with the projects. And third, the contractors  

(our direct customers) often know little to nothing  

about composite structures and materials and are  

able to provide very little technical guidance, support  

or data for the projects. As a result, we must find ways 

to solve the problems which almost invariably arise 

with these projects on our own. 

In any event, one Friday evening, while working  

on this Special Mission project, the person at PATC  

who had expertise in a certain specialty technique  

needed for the fabrication of the composite pod 

structure became unavailable. Nobody else at PATC 

had experience with this specialty technique or much 

knowledge of it. And, for reasons explained in the 

prior paragraph, we were not able to tap in to outside 

resources and our customer had no experience with  

or knowledge of this technique. The work requiring  

this specialty technique needed to be completed by 

Monday morning in order for PATC to stay on the 

very tight schedule for the project. So, now we were 

up against it. Under these circumstances, I suspect 

most people would have just given up and called 

the customer on Monday to tell them that they ran 

into a “snag” and that the project would be delayed. 

Most people would have accepted failure under 

these circumstances. But Niche People never give up.  

It is just not in their nature. For Niche People, failure is  

not an option. Niche People find ways to overcome  

and succeed when faced with adversity.   

So, our PATC Niche Team jumped into the fray on 

Friday night to deal with this setback and challenge, 

even though no member of the Niche Team had  

any experience with this specialty technique. Niche 

Team Members and others at PATC worked late into  

the night on Friday and through the day on Saturday 

trying to figure out how to master this specialty 

technique. I remember speaking to a Niche Team 

Member on Saturday night who told me that they 

were running into brick walls and had not yet solved 

the problem. Things sounded pretty bleak. I suspect 

most people would have given up at that point. But  

the Team did not give up or quit. The Team pressed  

forward and worked through Saturday night, and, 

by Sunday evening, the problem had been solved, 

the technique had been mastered and the Special 

Mission pod project stayed on its very tight schedule. 

Actually, I was stunned to hear of the Team’s success 

on Sunday night, but I should not have doubted or 

underestimated the power of the Niche Team. When 

faced with adversity, Niche People never give in, 
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never give up, never back down and never stop until  

Success has been achieved and Victory is theirs. For 

Niche People, failure is just not an option…

Electronics OEM Marketing Strategy

“If a tree falls in a forest and no one is around to  

hear it, does it make a sound?” We first commercialized 

Meteorwave® 1000 and Meteorwave 2000 in 2012. Then 

we commercialized Meteorwave 3000 and Meteorwave 

4000 in 2015. These very low loss and ultra low loss 

printed circuit material products were designed to 

excel in the most demanding telecommunications/

internet infrastructure and enterprise applications and 

environments. We felt the Meteorwave products were 

quite outstanding based upon their electrical, thermal 

and reliability data and characteristics. And we were 

not the only ones who felt that way. The Meterowave 

product line performed exceptionally well in technical 

test after technical test administered by leading circuit 

board companies and electronics OEMs, particularly  

in Asia. In side-by-side testing of the industry’s 

leading very low loss and ultra low loss circuit  

material products conducted by a number of these 

circuit board companies and OEMs, Park’s Meteorwave 

products came out on top. 

But, something was wrong. Notwithstanding the 

outstanding features of the Meteorwave products, 

they were just not selling (at least not to the 

significant degree we expected). So, the question 

is, “If an outstanding product line just does not sell,  

is it really an outstanding product line?” A deep and 

profound philosophical question indeed… But, at Park, 

we are not philosophers. Our practice for a very long 

time had been to sell to and agree to commercial  

terms with our direct customers, the printed circuit 

board manufacturers, and to never do so with the 

electronics OEMs. As a matter of fact, we considered 

it heresy to even discuss commercial terms with 

the OEMs. This practice of selling only to our direct 

customers had worked well for Park for many years, 

and we were sticking with it. Then, last summer, during 

a long flight back from Asia, Chris Mastrogiacomo,  

our President, had an epiphany and realized that, 

because of fundamental changes to the dynamics of 

the global electronics industry markets, we needed 

to change our long-standing strategy and to redirect 

our electronics marketing efforts to the electronics 

OEMs. Please read the article entitled “Electronics 

Opportunities...New Park OEM Marketing Strategy” 

on pages 8 and 9 of this Report for more information 

about this new OEM Marketing Strategy, but this 

fundamental change in strategy has dramatically 

changed the market’s reception to our Meteorwave 

Family of Products from almost disinterest to extreme 

interest. As a result, our Meteorwave products have 

experienced significant success in penetrating major 

programs with the most significant electronics 

OEMs in Asia and the world. So, I am not sure if 

an outstanding product line which does not sell is 

truly an outstanding product line… But, fortunately, 

for Park, as a result of our new electronics OEM  

Marketing Strategy, that question is just a moot 

philosophical question which does not need to be 

answered, as our Meteorwave Product Line has begun 

to sell and sell well with the most important OEMs in 

the world. And now, based upon the success of the 

OEM Marketing Strategy for our Meteorwave Product 

Line, we are beginning to implement our new OEM 

Marketing Strategy for other non-legacy products, 

such as N4800-20, N4800-20SI® and Meteorwave/

PTFE hybrid products. 

Consolidation of Park’s U.S. Electronic 
Materials Business Units

On April 18, 2017, we announced the consolidation  

of our Nelco Products, Inc. electronic materials  

Business Unit located in Fullerton, California (NPI) 

and our Neltec, Inc. electronic materials Business 

Unit located in Tempe, Arizona (Neltec). Under the 

consolidation, which is expected to be completed 

in our third quarter ended November 26, 2017, all 

NPI manufacturing functions will cease, except 

for treating, which will continue and be integrated 

into the Neltec Business Unit. All manufacturing 

functions will continue at Neltec, and, in the future, all  

business functions will be performed at Neltec. Upon 

completion of the consolidation, Neltec is expected to 

have manufacturing capacity equal to approximately 

three times the pre-consolidation production levels 

of NPI and Neltec combined. Also, and importantly, 

Neltec will continue to offer Park’s full and complete 

digital and RF electronic materials product line. 
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Our NPI facility, which was originally established in  

1965, is equipped with modern, highly automated 

equipment designed for high volume production 

of standard product. Unfortunately, in my opinion, 

the market for high volume production of standard  

product has almost completely migrated to Asia. 

Fortunately, our Neltec facility, which was originally 

established in 1990, was designed and is equipped 

for flexibility and agility, smaller production runs and 

multiple fast change-overs of a diverse and varied 

product line. As a result, our Neltec facility is much 

better equipped for and suited to today’s North 

American electronics market, which, in my opinion,  

has become very much a niche market. These factors  

led to our decision to focus our North American  

electronics business activities and operations in the 

future at Neltec rather than NPI. 

Of course, the reduced cost structure resulting from 

the consolidation will benefit our Neltec Business  

Unit in the future, but, for Neltec to have a real 

future, it is necessary to reinvent Neltec into a 

Niche Company! If we reinvent Neltec into a Niche  

Company, a company which does what others are 

unwilling or unable to do and a company which says  

“Yes” when others say “No”, I believe Neltec will  

have a great future. I believe, as a Niche Company, 

the opportunities for Neltec will be great. For a more  

complete description of the consolidation, see the 

news release issued on April 18, 2017 entitled “Park 

Electrochemical Corp. Announces Consolidation of its 

U.S. Electronic Materials Business Units”, which can be 

found on Park’s website at www.Parkelectro.com.    

Park’s Electronics Business...Well Positioned  
for the Future 

As a result of the implementation of our new electronics 

OEM Marketing Strategy and the consolidation of 

our U.S. electronic materials Business Units (both of 

which are discussed in detail above), I believe Park’s 

Electronics Business is now well positioned for the 

future. This does not mean the success of Park’s 

Electronics Business in the future is secure. Far from 

it… But it does mean that the path to success for  

Park’s Electronics Business is clear.

Park’s Aerospace Business

I have been around for a while now (have you ever 

noticed that generally old people start sentences that 

way?), and I have seen lots of bad businesses and  

some good businesses over the years, and I would like 

you to know that I believe Park’s Aerospace Business 

has become just a very fine and special business.  

Now, of course, it has not been an easy path.  

In January of 2007, a fairly large number of Park  

folks met at what was then called the “Wichita  

Airport Hilton” (an iconic aviation hotel at the time) 

to discuss making Aerospace a major area of focus 

for Park. We did decide to “go for it” with Aerospace 

at that meeting, but to say going into Aerospace 

in a serious way was much more difficult than I ever 

imagined would be an enormous understatement.  

Most of the people who participated in that meeting  

are not even with Park any more. We kicked off  

our initiative to make Aerospace a major focus area  

for Park by building an Aerospace composite 

materials manufacturing facility (we later expanded 

the facility in order to produce Aerospace 

composite parts and structures) in the middle 

of an open field used for farming located at the 

Newton, Kansas Airport. We knew almost nothing  

about Aerospace. We knew almost nobody in the 

Aerospace industry. We probably had to be half  

crazy to try to make a go of it in Aerospace… But,  

nevertheless, ten years later, Park’s Aerospace  

Business is a very fine and special business led by  

a strong and cohesive group of people, a business 

which is the envy of many (and rightfully so in my 

view), a business which is a bright light for Park and 

its future. Now, this does not mean we are where we 

want to be with our Aerospace Business or we have 

accomplished anything close to what we want to 

accomplish. Far from it! We have a long way to go, and 

there is so much we still must do… But, nevertheless, 

ten years later, Park’s Aerospace Business is a very  

fine and special business in the view of an old guy who 

has been around for a while…

Thank You

Thank you very much for your interest in our Company. 

And thank you for taking the time to read my letter. 

Please feel free to contact us if there is anything we 

can do.

I wish you and your families the very best!

Sincerely, 

Brian E. Shore
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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*Manufacturing and R&D facility

A GLOBAL ADVANCED MATERIALS COMPANY

Melville, 
New York
(Parent Company Offices)

Tempe, 
Arizona*

Newton,
Kansas*

Anaheim, 
California

Lannemezan, 
France

Singapore*
(Gul Plant)

Singapore
(Pioneer Plant)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

 Feb. 26,  Feb. 28,  Mar. 1,  Mar. 2,  Mar. 3, 
 2017 2016  2015  2014  2013 

Net sales $ 114,609 $ 145,855 $ 162,086 $ 165,764 $ 176,416

Gross profit 30,041 42,752 48,953 48,100 50,550

Earnings before income taxes 10,261 20,498 22,790 22,082 20,885

Net earnings before special items 9,480 18,580 21,004 20,197 20,344

Net earnings (loss) 9,283 18,029 20,043 (42,329) 16,961

Diluted earnings per share before special items 0.47 0.91 1.00 0.97 0.98

Diluted earnings (loss) per share 0.46 0.89 0.96 (2.03) 0.81

Cash dividends per share 0.40 0.40 1.90 2.90 2.90

Average common shares outstanding—diluted 20,239 20,352 20,986 20,849 20,823

Working capital 255,007 255,507 283,535 286,997 303,996

Total assets 308,578 314,777 350,682 377,093 369,658

Long-term debt 68,500 72,000 84,000 94,000 52,000

Shareholders’ equity 182,826 180,867 181,599 200,543 299,922

Equity per share 9.04 8.94 8.69 9.60 14.40

In fiscal year 2017, the Company recorded pre-tax restructuring charges of $313 related to the closure, in fiscal year 2009, of 

its New England Laminates Co., Inc. facility in New York.

In fiscal year 2016, the Company recorded pre-tax restructuring charges of $535 related to the closure, in fiscal year 2013, of 

its Nelco Technology (Zhuhai FTZ) Ltd. facility in China and the closure, in fiscal year 2009, of its New England Laminates 

Co., Inc. facility in New York and pre-tax deferred financing costs of $292 related to the early termination of the PNC Bank 

credit agreement that the Company entered into in February 2014, which was replaced by a three-year revolving credit 

facility with HSBC Bank in January 2016.

In fiscal year 2015, the Company recorded pre-tax charges of $1,645 related to the closure, in fiscal year 2013, of its Nelco 

Technology (Zhuhai FTZ) Ltd. facility in China and the closure, in fiscal year 2009, of its New England Laminates Co., Inc. 

facility in New York, cost reduction initiatives in the United States, additional fees incurred in connection with the 2014 fiscal 

year-end audit and the modification of previously issued employee stock options resulting from the special cash dividend 

paid by the company in February 2015.

In fiscal year 2014, the Company recorded a non-cash charge of $63,958 for the accrual of U.S. income taxes on the 

undistributed earnings of the Company’s subsidiary in Singapore, which included $34,404 related to the U.S. income tax 

that would be payable if the Company were to repatriate funds in an after-tax amount necessary to repay the Company’s 

existing $104,000 principal amount bank loan from PNC Bank and $29,554 relating to the remainder of the undistributed 

earnings of the Company’s subsidiary in Singapore, and pre-tax charges of $1,208 related to a modification of previously 

issued employee stock options resulting from the special cash dividend paid by the Company in February 2014, to a fee 

related to the retention of Bank of America Merrill Lynch for financial advisory services and to the closure of the Company’s 

Nelco Technology (Zhuhai FTZ) Ltd. facility in China, and a tax benefit of $2,181 in connection with a tax refund related to 

amended federal income tax returns.

In fiscal year 2013, the Company recorded restructuring charges of $3,703 primarily for the closures of its Park Advanced 

Composite Materials, Inc. facility in Connecticut and its Nelco Technology (Zhuhai FTZ) Ltd. facility in China.

The information in the table above includes all the charges, income, benefits and reserves described in the preceding 

paragraphs, except net earnings before special items and diluted earnings per share before special items, which do not 

include such charges, income, benefits and reserves.



Park Electrochemical Corp.    7     2017 Annual Report

TEN YEAR STATISTICAL HIGHLIGHTS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

In addition to the charges, income, benefits and reserves described in the paragraphs following the “Financial Highlights” table on the preceding page, the Company 
recorded a restructuring charge of $1,250 in fiscal year 2012 in connection with the closure of its Park Advanced Composite Materials, Inc. facility in Connecticut 
and other pre-tax income of $1,598 relating to the settlement of certain lawsuits; the Company recorded a charge of $1,312 in fiscal year 2011 in connection with the 
closure, in January 2009, of its Neltec Europe SAS electronic materials business unit in France; the Company recorded tax benefits of $3,050 in fiscal year 2010 for 
the reduction of certain deferred tax liabilities in Singapore related to a temporary tax incentive for offshore interest repatriation and $945 primarily for a retroactive 
extension of a development and expansion tax incentive in Singapore and tax reserves of $1,188 in the United States; the Company recorded pre-tax charges of 
$5,687 in fiscal year 2009 related to the closure of its New England Laminates Co., Inc. electronic materials business unit in New York and the closure of its Neltec 
Europe SAS business unit in France and related to a workforce reduction and an asset impairment at its Nelco Products Pre. Ltd. electronic materials and advanced 
composite materials business unit in Singapore and a pre-tax charge of $570 related to restructurings at certain of its North American and European business units 
and recognized tax benefits of $1,236 related to these charges and a tax benefit of $4,677 related to the elimination of valuation allowances resulting principally from 
the closure of the New England Laminates Co., Inc. business unit and recorded a discontinued operations benefit of $16,486 related to the elimination of a liability  
from discontinued operations of its Dielektra GmbH subsidiary in Germany;  and the Company recorded an employment termination benefits charge of $1,362 in fiscal 
year 2008 related to a workforce reduction at the Company’s business unit in France and a tax benefit of $1,500 relating to the reduction of tax reserves.

The information in the table above includes all the charges, income, benefits, reserves and gains described in the paragraphs following the “Financial Highlights” table 
on the preceding page and in the preceding paragraph, except net earnings from continuing operations before special items and diluted earnings per share from 
continuing operations before special items, which do not include such charges, income, benefits, reserves and gains.

  Feb. 26, Feb. 28,  Mar. 1,  Mar. 2,  Mar. 3,  Feb. 26,  Feb. 27,  Feb. 28,  Mar. 1,  Mar. 2, 
  2017 2016  2015  2014  2013  2012  2011  2010  2009  2008

OPERATIONS

Net sales  $ 114,609 $ 145,855  $ 162,086  $ 165,764 $ 176,416 $ 193,254 $ 211,652 $ 175,686 $ 200,062 $ 241,852

Cost of sales  84,568 103,103  113,133  117,664  125,866  138,512  141,751  124,084  156,638  179,398

Gross profit  30,041 42,752  48,953  48,100  50,550  54,742  69,901  51,602  43,424  62,454

Gross profit %  26.2 29.3  30.2  29.0  28.7  28.3  33.0  29.4  21.7  25.8

S, G & A  19,739 21,211  24,373  25,168  26,595  28,247  27,917  24,480  24,806  27,159

S, G & A %  17.2 14.5  15.0  15.2  15.1  14.6  13.2  14.0  12.4  11.2

Earnings from continuing operations  9,989 21,006  23,401  22,386  20,252  25,245  40,672  27,122  12,361  33,933

Earnings from continuing operations %  8.7 14.4  14.4  13.5  11.5  13.1  19.2  15.4  6.2  14.0

Earnings from continuing operations 

 before income taxes and special items  10,574 21,325  24,434  23,609  24,588  27,303  42,629  28,184  25,266  44,656

Earnings from continuing operations 

 before income taxes  10,261 20,498  22,790  22,082  20,885  27,651  41,317  28,184  19,009  43,294

Net earnings from continuing operations

 before special items 9,480  18,580  21,004  20,197  20,344  23,150  33,933  23,204  18,859  34,541

Net earnings (loss) from 

 continuing operations 9,283  18,029  20,043  (42,329)  16,961  23,442  32,621  25,359  18,514  34,679

Net earnings (loss) from 

 continuing operations % 8.1  12.4  12.4  (25.5)  9.6  12.1  15.4  14.4  9.3  14.3

Diluted earnings per share from continuing

 operations before special items  0.47 0.91  1.00  0.97  0.98  1.11  1.64  1.13 0.92  1.70

Diluted earnings (loss) per share 

 from continuing operations  0.46 0.89  0.96  (2.03)  0.81  1.13  1.58  1.23 0.90  1.70

Return on shareholders’ equity from continuing 

 operations before special items %  5.2 10.3  11.0  8.0  6.3  6.9  10.6  7.6  6.7  13.0

FINANCIAL POSITION

Current assets  269,130 272,185  313,259  311,240  320,674  311,590  296,959  282,678  263,931  271,039

Current liabilities  14,123 16,678  29,724  24,243  16,678  21,441  25,253  21,642  24,286  31,979

Working capital  255,007 255,507  283,535  286,997  303,996  290,149  271,706  261,036  239,645  239,060

Current ratio  19.1 16.3  10.5  12.9  19.2  14.5  11.8  13.1  10.9  8.5

Property, plant and equipment—net  18,638 21,512  26,537  29,674  32,187  38,695  41,292  44,905  48,777  47,188

Total assets  308,578 314,777  350,682  377,093  369,658  365,988  353,808  343,104  327,579  327,407

Long-term debt  68,500 72,000  84,000  94,000  52,000  —  —  —  —  — 

Shareholders’ equity  182,826 180,867  181,599  200,543  299,922  343,211  325,308  316,098  295,709  269,172

Total capitalization  251,326 252,867  265,599  294,543  351,922  343,211  325,308  316,098  295,709  269,172

OTHER DATA

Capital expenditures  242 398  430  1,117  1,447  3,994  3,699  3,422  12,224  4,525

Depreciation and amortization  3,106 3,369  3,559  3,757  4,269  5,891  6,746  7,057  7,707  8,286

Equity per share  9.04 8.94  8.69  9.60  14.40  16.50  15.70  15.40  14.45  13.23

Cash dividends per share  0.40 0.40  1.90  2.90  2.90  .40  1.40  .36  .32  1.82

Average number of employees  447 454  491  518  568  613  613  594  797  906

Sales per employee  257 321  330  320  311  315  345  296  251  267
Average common shares 

 outstanding—diluted  20,239 20,352  20,986  20,849  20,823  20,792  20,675  20,547  20,486  20,364
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Electronics Opportunities... 
New Park OEM Marketing Strategy

Many new opportunities start with a test. Testing 

materials like Park’s Meteorwave® Family of materials 

involves using complex multilayer test boards to test 

various environmental, thermal and signal integrity 

factors. Testing often spans weeks of measuring the 

performance of boards incorporated into working 

systems. Our Meteorwave Family of materials drew 

significant interest based upon such testing. Not long 

ago, we were reviewing our comprehensive database  

of Meteorwave testing and were struck by the long 

list of tests with extremely high passing rates. The 

remarkable test history of the Meteorwave Family of 

materials and the significant efforts of our marketing 

and sales team simply did not align with the limited 

number of new Meteorwave programs we had won. 

We asked ourselves why we were not enjoying the 

success that the Meteorwave Family of materials  

seemed capable of and concluded that we needed 

to adjust our marketing and sales strategy. Printed 

circuit board fabricators and the original equipment 

manufacturers often have different motivations 

to implement new materials. For fabricators, new 

materials require resource intensive process and 

product qualifications, as well as additional inventory 

requirements that may be costly to, or create 

inefficiencies for, the fabricators. For these reasons, 

fabricators often are conservative in their assessment  

of new material introductions. For electronics OEMs,  

new materials feed their appetite for leading edge 

products and offer a stable and multi-sourced 

supply base that minimizes their risk. For these 

reasons, electronics OEMs seek out partnerships with 

companies that will enable the OEMs to meet their 

product roadmaps with new and innovative materials. 

For years, Park has taken the traditional approach to 

selling its electronics laminate materials to printed 

circuit board fabricators (the actual purchasers of the 

materials) and has provided pricing and commercial 

terms only to the fabricators. While Park has had an 

OEM marketing team which promoted OEM interest in 

our materials for many years, Park has never engaged  

in an OEM program agreement with an electronics 

OEM, until now! Upon identifying the benefits of 

dealing directly with the electronics OEMs, Park 

concluded its first OEM program agreement with a very 

large electronics OEM. While this OEM was interested 

in our Meteorwave Family of materials, it was Park’s 

reputation for integrity (based on the OEM’s many 

years of experience with Park) and Park’s technology 

that most impressed the OEM. Pursuant to this OEM 

program agreement, the OEM obligated its printed 

circuit board suppliers to use Meteorwave materials 

in the fabrication of circuit boards for this OEM. In 

addition, Park is building a business relationship 

directly with the OEM for the development of new 

laminate materials that will meet its needs today and 

in the future. Although there is much work to be done, 

this OEM program agreement has begun a course 

of events that is generating significant traction for 

our Meteorwave Family of materials at nine leading 

fabricators that supply this OEM. 

After reaching this first OEM program agreement, we 

found that the OEM’s fabricators’ perceptions and 

attitudes changed dramatically over time. At first, the 

news that the fabricators would be obliged to use  

Park’s Meteorwave material in the fabrication of circuit 

boards for the OEM was not welcomed by them. 

However, over the course of about seven months 

and numerous visits by the Park sales and marketing  

team, the fabricators realized that working with Park 

had many additional advantages. Having gained 

experience with the Meteorwave Family of materials, 

the fabricators learned that Meteorwave materials 

PARK’S ELECTRONICS ACTIVITIES

ATTENUATION OVER FREQUENCY

Attenuation, also referred to as loss, is the reduction in signal 
strength over distance. At higher frequencies, necessary for 
higher data transfer rates, attenuation increases. Materials 
and technologies that minimize attenuation are required at 
25GHz or higher.
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perform better and are easier to process than the 

competitive materials that they previously preferred. 

After this seven month period that followed our first 

OEM agreement, many of these fabricators not only 

have expressed a preference for Meteorwave materials 

but also are promoting Meteorwave materials to other 

electronics OEMs. Following the success of this first 

OEM program agreement, we are replicating this 

process at several other OEMs and are working with  

a large number of fabricators that supply these 

OEMs. We are continuing to build on this success and  

engage with OEMs and fabricators at a broader and 

deeper level. 

Additionally, we have some other new and exciting 

opportunities for our electronic materials and related 

technology. For example, we are capitalizing on the 

growth of the antenna market for 5G, automotive radar 

and satellite-based internet. Many of these antenna 

designs use hybrid constructions, in which traditional 

RF materials, such as polytetrafluoroethylene (“PTFE”) 

are used in conjunction with high speed digital 

materials. Park’s PTFE-based products are being used 

in conjunction with Meteorwave materials as the bond 

ply for multilayer antenna applications. The use of 

Meteorwave materials improves the manufacturability 

and final product performance of such hybrid 

constructions. Park’s materials have been selected for 

several large programs using hybrid constructions,  

and Park is engaged with additional companies working 

in the antenna market worldwide.

Another opportunity is an interesting niche for one 

of our existing materials, but for a new technology. 

A customer approached us for an ultra-thin core so  

the customer can build a very thin multilayer printed 

circuit board. The board will be used in power  

modules and requires the ability to pass a demanding 

high voltage test. The electrical properties, thickness 

control and cleanliness of the material allowed the 

customer to meet the requirements of the application.

Working with our electronics customers and OEMs, 

and with our new OEM program marketing strategy, 

Park is developing materials designed for future 

requirements. These materials will enable higher data 

transfer rates for internet infrastructure equipment 

(routers and switches) and enterprise equipment 

(servers and storage devices), enabling technology 

like driverless cars, high definition video streaming  

and easier internet access anywhere in the world.

As we travel to electronics customers and OEMs 

worldwide, we always ask the question, “What can 

we do for you that others are unwilling or unable to 

do”. That one question tends to open discussions on 

a number of different topics. Sometimes customers 

and OEMs are looking for technical help, information, 

product modification, new products or marketing 

cooperation. Our objective is to establish ourselves as 

the resource our customers and OEMs think of first,  

and we believe we have made significant progress 

towards achieving that objective.

PARK MATERIALS ROADMAP

Transitioning from 4G to 5G means higher data transfer rates, expressed in gigabits per second (Gbs), for each channel.  
As data transfer rates increase, materials and technologies with ever lower attenuation (loss) characteristics are needed.
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Aerospace Composites Parts…a Niche Story

As our Park Aerospace Technologies Corp. (PATC) 

Aerospace Business Unit in Newton, Kansas was 

embracing the Niche Company concept and becoming 

a Niche Company, the parts operation stood out 

as needing to become part of a Niche Company. 

Because this operation made up only a small portion 

of our overall revenue, it was not being given the 

attention it deserved. This was primarily because we 

could not, and did not want to, compete in broad RFQ  

processes dominated by large volume manufacturers  

who could offer low margin deals for low skilled and  

long lead time “build-to-print” work. However, by 

focusing on customers requiring high skilled custom 

services with short lead times and low volumes, we 

could begin to leverage our strengths as a Niche 

Company. Three areas that are especially suited to a 

Niche Company are quick-turn developmental “build-

to-print” projects, special missions “design and build” 

orders and spares requirements. Now, let’s talk about 

three projects in these areas to see why these are 

opportunities that are well suited for a Niche Company.

The first opportunity explored by this article is  

a developmental “build-to-print” military aircraft 

project. Typical build-to-print projects are highly 

competitive largely because they are simple, as most 

of the difficult engineering work is completed before 

the project goes out for bid. Build-to-print projects 

are also usually for production volume quantities  

that are known well ahead of time. These characteristics 

mean that the lowest price wins and special skills 

or uniqueness are discounted or not valued at all;  

factors which make build-to-print projects a poor  

fit for a Niche Company. So why would this  

particular build-to-print project be suitable for a  

Niche Company? Because it required only one to five 

parts per part number, delivery dates of a week to  

a few weeks maximum with no time for first article  

mishaps or scrapping parts, and low-volume tooling  

for some part numbers. For most people, one to five  

parts cannot justify all the upfront work for such 

a project. Also, a one week lead time for the  

manufacture of primary and secondary structures is  

often considered too stringent. For us, however, the  

low volume and stringent timeline of this project  

aligned well with our very special and unusual focus  

and with our custom services and sense of urgency.  

Also, our ability to manufacture low-volume tooling  

meant that we did not have to wait several weeks or 

months to get a tool delivered and could instead start 

building parts within in a few days. As a result, although 

this particular build-to-print project started very small,  

over the past year, we have actually built many  

ship-sets: approximately 360 primary and secondary 

structures and 25 refurbished low-volume tools.  

We are also quite confident that we will continue to  

be called upon by this customer, based on its need 

for a partner that can offer it our unique blend of high 

skilled work, custom services and a sense of urgency. 

The second opportunity is a special missions “design 

and build” prototype project. Prototype designs are 

not for everyone. They are typically for small volumes 

required on short lead times, which as discussed above, 

is a very unattractive combination of requirements  

for most parts manufacturers. Design and build 

prototype projects are also often unpredictable and 

difficult. This particular project had a single known 

factor — our patented strut technology. Everything 

else about this project represented a new special and 

unusual challenge that we had never solved before.  

Once again, we applied our Niche Company philosophy  

to say “yes” and took on the challenge. The project 

required us to design and build composite parts that  

met a set of very specific transmissivity requirements, 

and these requirements did not allow for the 

manufacture of parts using our typical construction 

of carbon materials. These requirements necessitated  

our having to apply our Niche Team’s skill and 

experience to find a novel composite material 

construction that would work in this instance. Our 

Niche Team, as described in Brian Shore’s message 

on page 1 of this Report, worked together to develop 

a design that could work in concept and that would 

be practical to manufacture. As is always the case 

when doing development work, new issues continued 

to arise throughout this project and the customer 

repeatedly challenged us with ever-changing technical 

requirements. However, as a Niche Company, we 

remained flexible, stayed on schedule and solved 

whatever problems came our way. Our ability to  

deliver a product quickly, on schedule and meeting 

its technical requirements will determine if follow-

on business would be awarded. We look forward to 

completing this development project this calendar 

year. Based on our performance on this project, we 

also look forward to follow-on business, not only for 

these particular parts but also for many other parts 

from this same customer. 

PARK’S AEROSPACE ACTIVITIES
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The third opportunity, which we believe is very well 

suited for a Niche Company, is a spare parts project. 

The customer needed us to build five or six spare  

parts with a material that we were not familiar with.  

It turned out that many of our competitors were also  

not familiar with this material either and were not 

interested in building a limited number of spare 

parts. As a result, the customer told us that every 

other company they approached declined to bid its  

project. This was one of those circumstances where 

others were unwilling or unable to help this customer, 

and our Niche Team jumped at the opportunity to fill 

this void. Our Team promptly concluded that we had  

a resin system that met our customer’s technical 

requirements. However, we then needed to solve 

two issues related to the reinforcement required by 

our customer’s specification. First, the reinforcement 

supplier had a large minimum order quantity (MOQ)  

that greatly increased the cost of the project. Second, 

the reinforcement was a glass matte, rather than a 

woven fabric, and could not run through a traditional 

solution treater process. For the large MOQ issue,   

instead of doing what most businesses would do and 

stick the customer with this cost, we worked with the 

supplier to send us a master roll of the material and 

convinced the supplier to take back the balance of 

the unused reinforcement material. This effectively 

eliminated the MOQ. The material processing issue 

turned out to be a bigger challenge. The matte 

reinforcement material required by the specification 

disintegrated when processed in a solution treater. 

However, our Niche Team solved this issue by building 

the applicable parts using a wet lay-up process  

and avoiding using a treater altogether. A company 

like PATC typically uses a hand lay-up process, so 

using a wet lay-up process constitutes thinking outside  

the box, an important characteristic of a Niche Team. 

Needless to say, this customer was delighted that  

a company was willing to take the time to think  

through their issues and “do what others were either 

unwilling or unable to do”.

These are just three examples of the type of parts 

projects we have been working on, but many more 

of our parts projects are also well suited for a Niche 

Company. Our parts operation now has a direction,  

a purpose and a desire to achieve success; all of  

which we believe will secure a great future for the 

Company and its employees. We are very optimistic 

about the new direction of our parts operation and 

will work tirelessly to fill the enormous need that  

we believe exists for it. We believe that this operation 

can and should be that partner that aerospace 

companies turn to when they have special and unusual 

parts projects that require skilled custom services, 

short lead times and low volumes.

PATC’s Aerospace Composite Parts Ply-Cutting and Lay-Up Room
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Park Electrochemical Corp. and Subsidiaries 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF 
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

GENERAL:
Park Electrochemical Corp. (“Park” or the “Company”) is 

a global advanced materials company which develops, 

manufactures, markets and sells advanced composite 

materials, primary and secondary structures and assemblies 

and low-volume tooling for the aerospace markets and 

high-technology digital and RF/microwave printed circuit 

materials principally for the telecommunications and 

internet infrastructure, enterprise and military/aerospace 

markets. The Company’s manufacturing facilities are located 

in Kansas, Singapore, France, Arizona and California. The 

Company also maintains research and development facilities 

in Arizona, Kansas and Singapore.

The Company’s fiscal year is the 52 or 53 week period 

ending the Sunday nearest to the last day of February. The 

2017, 2016 and 2015 fiscal years ended on February 26, 2017, 

February 28, 2016 and March 1, 2015, respectively. The 2017, 

2016 and 2015 fiscal years consisted of 52 weeks. Unless 

otherwise indicated in this Discussion and Analysis, all 

references to years in this Discussion and Analysis are to 

the Company’s fiscal years and all annual information in this 

Discussion and Analysis is for such fiscal years.

2017 Financial Overview

The Company’s total net sales worldwide in 2017 were 

21% lower than in 2016 primarily due to lower sales of the 

Company’s printed circuit materials products in Asia and 

North America and lower sales of the Company’s aerospace 

composite materials, parts and assemblies and low-volume 

tooling. The lower sales in Asia were primarily due to a 

slowdown in demand for the Company’s products which 

are used by original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) 

in the manufacture of equipment for the internet and 

telecommunications infrastructure in developing countries 

and certain legacy materials coming to end-of-program life 

at OEMs. 

The Company’s gross profit margin, measured as a 

percentage of sales, decreased to 26.2% in 2017 from 29.3% 

in 2016 due primarily to lower sales and production levels 

of the Company’s printed circuit materials products in Asia 

and North America in 2017 and lower sales of the Company’s 

aerospace products combined with the fixed nature of 

certain overhead costs, which were partially offset by an 

improvement in its printed circuit materials production 

processes in North America. The gross profit in 2017 also 

benefited from the growing percentage of sales of the 

Company’s more technically advanced high performance 

printed circuit materials products. 

The Company’s earnings from operations and net earnings 

in 2017 were 52% and 49% lower, respectively, than in 2016, 

primarily as a result of the aforementioned decreases 

in sales and gross profit margin, partially offset by a 7% 

reduction in selling, general and administrative expenses. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased 

primarily due to decreases in shipping expenses, salary 

expenses, incentive compensation, stock option expenses 

and professional fees, partially offset by unfavorable foreign 

exchange rates. Earnings from operations in 2017 included 

pre-tax restructuring charges of $0.3 million in connection 

with the closure in 2009 of the New England Laminates Co., 

Inc. facility located in Newburgh, New York. Earnings from 

operations in 2016 included pre-tax restructuring charges of 

$0.5 million related to the facility closure mentioned above 

and the closure in 2013 of the Nelco Technology (Zhuhai 

FTZ) Ltd. (“Nelco Zhuhai”) facility located in the Free Trade 

Zone in Zhuhai, China. 

The global markets for the Company’s products continue 

to be very difficult to forecast, and it is not clear to the 

Company what the demand for the Company’s products will 

be in 2018 or beyond. 

Park Electrochemical Corp.  13  2017 Annual Report
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Park Electrochemical Corp. and Subsidiaries 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS:
Fiscal Year 2017 Compared to Fiscal Year 2016

Fiscal Year Ended

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)  
February 26, 

2017  
February 28, 

2016  Increase/(Decrease)

Net sales $ 114,609 $ 145,855 $ (31,246) –21%

Cost of sales 84,568 103,103 (18,535) –18%

Gross profit 30,041 42,752 (12,711) –30%

Selling, general and administrative expenses 19,739 21,211 (1,472) –7%

Restructuring charges 313 535 (222) –41%

Earnings from operations 9,989 21,006 (11,017) –52%

Interest expense 1,432 1,657 (225) –14%

Interest and other income 1,704 1,149 555 48%

Earnings before income taxes 10,261 20,498 (10,237) –50%

Income tax provision 978 2,469 (1,491) –60%

Net earnings $ 9,283 $ 18,029 $ (8,746) –49%

Earnings per share:

Basic earnings per share $ 0.46 $ 0.89 $ (0.43) –48%

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.46 $ 0.89 $ (0.43) –48%

Net Sales

The Company’s total net sales worldwide in 2017 were 

21% lower than in 2016 primarily due to lower sales of 

the Company’s printed circuit materials products in Asia 

and North America and lower sales of the Company’s 

aerospace composite materials, parts and assemblies and 

low-volume tooling. The lower sales in Asia were primarily 

due to a slowdown in demand for the Company’s products 

which are used by OEMs in the manufacture of equipment 

for the internet and telecommunications infrastructure in 

developing countries and certain legacy materials coming 

to end-of-program life at OEMs. 

The Company’s total net sales of its printed circuit materials 

products were $82.5 million and $106.7 million in 2017 

and 2016, respectively, or 72% and 73%, respectively, of 

the Company’s total net sales worldwide in such periods. 

The Company’s total net sales of its aerospace composite 

materials, parts and assemblies products were $32.1 million 

and $39.1 million in 2017 and 2016, respectively, or 28% 

and 27%, respectively, of the Company’s total net sales 

worldwide in such periods. 

The Company’s foreign sales were $53.7 million, or 47% 

of the Company’s total net sales worldwide, during 2017 

compared to $70.6 million of sales, or 48% of total net sales 

worldwide, during 2016. The decrease in 2017 was primarily 

due to the lower sales in Asia for reasons described above.

The Company’s sales in North America, Asia and Europe 

were 53%, 39% and 8%, respectively, of the Company’s total 

net sales worldwide in 2017 compared to 52%, 42% and 6%, 

respectively, in 2016. The Company’s sales in North America 

decreased 19%, while its sales in Asia decreased 27% and 

its sales in Europe decreased 4% in 2017 compared to 2016.

During both 2017 and 2016, 93% of the Company’s total net 

sales worldwide of printed circuit materials consisted of 

high performance printed circuit materials.

The Company’s high performance printed circuit 

materials (non-FR4 printed circuit materials) include high-

speed, low-loss materials for digital and RF/microwave 

applications requiring lead-free compatibility and high 

bandwidth signal integrity, allylated polyphenylene ether 

(“APPE”) materials, bismalimide triazine (“BT”) materials, 

polyimides for applications that demand extremely high 

thermal performance and reliability, cyanate esters, quartz 

reinforced materials, and polytetrafluoroethylene (“PTFE”) 

and modified epoxy materials for RF/microwave systems 

that operate at frequencies up to at least 79GHz.

Gross Profit

The Company’s gross profit margin, measured as a 

percentage of sales, decreased to 26.2% in 2017 from 29.3% 

in 2016 due primarily to lower sales and production levels 

of the Company’s printed circuit materials products in Asia  
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and North America in 2017 and lower sales of the Company’s 

aerospace products combined with the fixed nature of 

certain overhead costs, which were partially offset by an 

improvement in its printed circuit materials production 

processes in North America. The gross profit in 2017 also 

benefited from the growing percentage of sales of the 

Company’s more technically advanced high performance 

printed circuit materials products. 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by 

$1.5 million, or 7%, during 2017 compared to 2016. Such 

expenses measured as percentages of sales were 17.2% 

during 2017 compared to 14.5% during 2016. The decrease 

in such expenses in 2017 was primarily due to decreases in 

shipping expenses commensurate with the sales reduction 

in 2017, and lower salary expenses, incentive compensation, 

stock option expenses and professional fees, partially offset 

by unfavorable foreign exchange rates.

Selling, general and administrative expenses in 2017 

included $1.2 million of stock option expenses compared to 

$1.5 million of such expenses in 2016. 

Restructuring Charges

During 2017, the Company recorded pre-tax restructuring 

charges of $0.3 million in connection with the closure 

in 2009 of its facility located in Newburgh, New York, 

compared to pre-tax restructuring charges of $0.5 million in 

2016 in connection with the aforementioned facility closure 

and the closure in 2013 of its facility located in Zhuhai, China.

Earnings from Operations

For the reasons set forth above, the Company’s earnings 

from operations were $10.0 million for 2017, including pre-

tax charges of $0.3 million associated with the closure in 

2009 of the facility in Newburgh, New York, compared to 

$21.0 million for 2016, including the pre-tax charges of $0.5 

million associated with the closures in prior years of facilities 

in Zhuhai, China and Newburgh, New York.

Interest Expense

Interest expense in 2017 was $1.4 million, compared to $1.7 

million in 2016. The decrease in interest expense in 2017 was 

primarily due to lower average outstanding debt and the 

pre-tax deferred financing costs of $0.3 million related to 

the early termination of the PNC Bank credit agreement in 

2016 that did not recur in 2017. As previously reported, the 

Company entered into a three-year revolving credit facility 

agreement with HSBC Bank USA in January 2016, which 

replaced the credit facility agreement that the Company 

entered into with PNC Bank in February 2014. See Note 

10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

included elsewhere in this Report and “Liquidity and Capital 

Resources” elsewhere in this Discussion and Analysis for 

additional information.

Interest and Other Income

Interest and other income were $1.7 million and $1.1 million 

for 2017 and 2016, respectively. The 48% increase in 2017 was 

primarily the result of higher weighted average interest rates 

based on longer average maturities of marketable securities 

held by the Company in 2017 compared to last year’s 

comparable period. During 2017 and 2016, the Company 

earned interest income principally from its investments, 

which were primarily in short-term instruments and money 

market funds.

Income Tax Provision

The Company’s effective income tax rate of 9.5% for 2017 

was lower than the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate 

because portions of the Company’s taxable income in 2017 

were derived in foreign jurisdictions with lower effective 

income tax rates. The Company’s effective income tax rate 

was 12.0% for 2016.  See “Results of Operations – Fiscal Year 

2016 Compared to Fiscal Year 2015 – Income Tax Provision” 

elsewhere in this Discussion and Analysis.

Net Earnings

The Company’s net earnings for 2017 were $9.3 million, 

including pre-tax charges of $0.3 million related to the 

facility closure mentioned above, compared to $18.0 million 

for 2016, including the pre-tax charges of $0.8 million 

related to deferred financing costs and the facility closures 

described above. The net impact of the items described 

above was to reduce net earnings by $0.2 million in 2017 

and to reduce net earnings by $0.6 million in 2016. 

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share for 2017 were $0.46, 

including the facility closure mentioned above, compared 

to basic and diluted earnings per share of $0.89 for 2016, 

including the deferred financing costs and the facility 

closures described above. The net impact of the items 

described above was to reduce basic and diluted earnings 

per share by $0.01 and $0.02 in 2017 and 2016, respectively. 

Park Electrochemical Corp.  15  2017 Annual Report



Park Electrochemical Corp.  16  2017 Annual Report

Park Electrochemical Corp. and Subsidiaries 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Fiscal Year 2016 Compared to Fiscal Year 2015

Fiscal Year Ended

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

February 28, 
2016

March 1, 
2015 Increase/(Decrease)

Net sales $ 145,855 $ 162,086 $ (16,231) –10%

Cost of sales 103,103 113,133 (10,030) –9%

Gross profit 42,752 48,953 (6,201) –13%

Selling, general and administrative expenses 21,211 24,373 (3,162) –13%

Restructuring charges 535 1,179 (644) –55%

Earnings from operations 21,006 23,401 (2,395) –10%

Interest expense 1,657 1,438 219 15%

Interest and other income 1,149 827 322 39%

Earnings before income taxes 20,498 22,790 (2,292) –10%

Income tax provision 2,469 2,747 (278) –10%

Net (loss) earnings $ 18,029 $ 20,043 $ (2,014) –10%

Earnings per share:

Basic (loss) earnings per share $ 0.89 $ 0.96 $ (0.07) –7%

Diluted (loss) earnings per share $ 0.89 $ 0.96 $ (0.07) –7%

Net Sales

The Company’s total net sales worldwide in 2016 decreased 

10% from 2015 primarily as a result of lower sales of the 

Company’s printed circuit materials products in Asia and 

North America, partially offset by higher sales of the 

Company’s aerospace composite materials, parts and 

assemblies products. The lower sales in Asia were primarily 

due to a slowdown in demand for the Company’s products 

which are used by OEMs in the manufacture of equipment 

for the internet and telecommunications infrastructure in 

developing countries. The Company’s higher sales in Asia 

in 2015 were the result of a spike in demand for the 

Company’s printed circuit materials products in Asia 

caused by internet and telecommunications infrastructure 

build-out programs in developing countries. In addition, 

the OEMs which manufacture equipment for these 

programs rapidly increased their inventory levels in excess 

of program demands. 

The Company’s total net sales of its printed circuit materials 

products were $106.7 million and $126.4 million in 2016 

and 2015, respectively, or 73% and 78%, respectively, of 

the Company’s total net sales worldwide in such periods.  

The Company’s total net sales of its aerospace composite 

materials, parts and assemblies products were $39.1 million 

and $35.6 million in 2016 and 2015, respectively, or 27% 

and 22%, respectively, of the Company’s total net sales 

worldwide in such periods. 

The Company’s foreign sales were $70.6 million, or 48% 

of the Company’s total net sales worldwide, during 2016 

compared to $86.7 million of sales, or 53% of total net sales 

worldwide, during 2015. The decrease in 2016 was primarily 

due to the lower sales in Asia for reasons described above.

The Company’s sales in North America, Asia and Europe 

were 52%, 42% and 6%, respectively, of the Company’s total 

net sales worldwide in 2016 compared to 46%, 47% and 7%, 

respectively, in 2015. The Company’s sales in North America 

remained relatively flat, while its sales in Asia decreased 19% 

and its sales in Europe decreased 12% in 2016 compared 

to 2015.

During 2016, 93% of the Company’s total net sales worldwide 

of printed circuit materials consisted of high performance 

printed circuit materials, compared to 92% during 2015.
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Gross Profit

The Company’s gross profit margin, measured as a 

percentage of sales, decreased to 29.3% in 2016 from 30.2% 

in 2015 due primarily to lower sales and production levels of 

the Company’s printed circuit materials products in Asia and 

North America in 2016 combined with the fixed nature of 

certain overhead costs, which were partially offset by higher 

sales of the Company’s aerospace products, an improvement 

in its printed circuit materials production processes in North 

America, cost reduction initiatives in the United States and 

lower utility rates. The gross profit in 2016 also benefited 

from the higher percentage of sales of higher margin, high 

performance printed circuit materials products than in 2015 

and the growing percentage of sales of the Company’s more 

technically advanced high performance products.  

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased 

by $3.2 million, or 13%, during 2016 compared to 2015. 

Such expenses measured as percentages of sales were 

14.5% during 2016 compared to 15.0% during 2015. The 

decrease in such expenses in 2016 was primarily the result 

of cost reduction initiatives, lower shipping expenses 

commensurate with the sales reduction in 2016, a decrease 

in legal and professional fees, lower incentive compensation 

expenses and favorable foreign exchange rates. 

During 2015, the Company recorded non-cash charges 

of $0.4 million related to the modification of previously 

issued employee stock options in connection with the $1.50 

per share special cash dividend paid by the Company in 

February 2015 and additional fees incurred in connection 

with the 2014 fiscal year-end audit. Selling, general and 

administrative expenses in 2016 included $1.5 million of 

stock option expenses compared to $1.4 million of such 

expenses in 2015. 

Restructuring Charges

During 2016, the Company recorded pre-tax restructuring 

charges of $0.5 million in connection with the closures in prior 

years of its facilities located in Zhuhai, China and Newburgh, 

New York, compared to pre-tax restructuring charges of $1.2 

million in 2015 in connection with cost reduction initiatives in 

the United States and the aforementioned facility closures.

Earnings from Operations

For the reasons set forth above, the Company’s earnings 

from operations were $21.0 million for 2016, including pre-

tax charges of $0.5 million associated with the closures in 

prior years of facilities in Zhuhai, China and Newburgh, New 

York, compared to $23.4 million for 2015, including the non-

cash pre-tax charges of $0.2 million associated with the 

modification of previously issued employee stock options, 

pre-tax restructuring charges of $1.2 million related to cost 

reduction initiatives in the United States and the closures in 

prior years of facilities in Zhuhai, China and Newburgh, New 

York and a pre-tax charge of $0.3 million for additional fees 

incurred in connection with the 2014 fiscal year-end audit.

Interest Expense

Interest expense in 2016 was $1.7 million, compared to $1.4 

million in 2015. The increase in interest expense in 2016 was 

primarily due to pre-tax deferred financing costs of $0.3 

million related to the early termination of the PNC Bank 

credit agreement. As previously reported, the Company 

entered into a three-year revolving credit facility agreement 

with HSBC Bank USA in January 2016, which replaced the 

credit facility agreement that the Company entered into 

with PNC Bank in February 2014. See Note 10 of the Notes 

to Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in 

this Report and “Liquidity and Capital Resources” elsewhere 

in this Discussion and Analysis for additional information.

Interest and Other Income

Interest and other income were $1.1 million and $0.8 million 

for 2016 and 2015, respectively. The 39% increase in 2016 was 

primarily the result of higher weighted average interest rates 

based on larger average balances of marketable securities 

held by the Company in 2016 compared to last year’s 

comparable period. During 2016 and 2015, the Company 

earned interest income principally from its investments, 

which were primarily in short-term instruments and money 

market funds.

Income Tax Provision

The Company’s effective income tax rate of 12.0% for 2016 

was lower than the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate 

because portions of the Company’s taxable income in 2016 

were derived in foreign jurisdictions with lower effective 

income tax rates. The Company’s effective income tax rate 

was 12.1% for 2015.  

Net Earnings

The Company’s net earnings for 2016 were $18.0 million, 

including pre-tax charges of $0.8 million related to the 

facility closures and deferred financing costs mentioned 

above, compared to $20.0 million for 2015, including the 

pre-tax charges of $1.6 million related to a modification of 

previously issued employee stock options, cost reduction 

initiatives in the United States and the facility closures and 
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additional 2014 fiscal year-end audit fees described above. 

The net impact of the items described above was to reduce 

net earnings by $0.6 million in 2016 and to reduce net 

earnings by $1.0 million in 2015. 

Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

Basic and diluted earnings per share for 2016 were $0.89, 

including the facility closures and deferred financing costs 

mentioned above, compared to basic and diluted earnings 

per share of $0.96 for 2015, including the additional non-

cash charges related to the modification of previously 

issued employee stock options, cost reduction initiatives in 

the United States and the facility closures and the additional 

2014 fiscal year-end audit fees described above. The net 

impact of the items described above was to reduce basic 

and diluted earnings per share by $0.02 and $0.04 in 2016 

and 2015, respectively. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES:

(Amounts in thousands)

February 26, 
2017

February 28, 
2016

Increase/
(Decrease)

Cash and marketable securities $ 238,590 $ 237,425 $ 1,165 

Restricted cash 10,000 10,000 —

Working capital 255,007 255,507 (500)

Fiscal Year Ended Increase/(Decrease)

(Amounts in thousands)

February 26, 
2017

February 28, 
2016

March 1, 
2015

2017 vs. 
2016

2016 vs. 
2015

Net cash provided by operating 

activities $ 13,167 $ 13,948 $ 29,011 $ (781) $ (15,063)

Net cash provided by (used in) 

investing activities 2,478 (8,017) 5,481 10,495 (13,498)

Net cash used in financing activities (11,093) (49,495) (25,948) 38,402 (23,547)

Cash, Marketable Securities and Restricted Cash

Of the $248.6 million of cash, restricted cash and marketable 

securities at February 26, 2017, approximately $237.7 million 

was owned by certain of the Company’s wholly owned 

foreign subsidiaries. The Company believes it has sufficient 

liquidity to fund its operating activities for the twelve 

months from the date of the filing of the Company’s Form 

10-K Annual Report for the fiscal year ended February 26, 

2017 and for the foreseeable future thereafter. 

The change in cash, restricted cash and marketable securities 

at February 26, 2017 compared to February 28, 2016 was 

the result of lower cash provided by operating activities and 

a number of additional factors. The significant changes in 

cash provided by operating activities were as follows:

•  accounts receivable decreased by 24% at February 26, 

2017 compared to February 28, 2016 primarily due to the 

reductions in total net sales and production levels;  

•  accounts payable decreased 32% at February 26, 2017 

compared to February 28, 2016 primarily due to lower 

production levels in the 2017 fiscal year fourth quarter 

compared to the 2016 fiscal year fourth quarter and to 

the timing of payments to vendors and raw material 

purchases from suppliers;

•  accrued liabilities decreased 25% at February 26, 2017 

compared to February 28, 2016 due to lower accruals for 

incentive compensation and profit sharing.

In addition, the Company paid $8.1 million and $8.2 million 

in cash dividends during 2017 and 2016, respectively. During 

2017, the Company made $3.0 million of principal payments 

on its long-term debt.

Working Capital

Working capital at February 26, 2017 was flat compared to 

February 28, 2016. Increases in cash and cash equivalents 

and decreases in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

were offset by decreases in marketable securities and 

accounts receivable.
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The Company’s current ratio (the ratio of current assets to 

current liabilities) was 19.1 to 1 at February 26, 2017 compared 

with 16.3 to 1 at February 28, 2016.

Cash Flows

During 2017, the Company’s net earnings, before depreciation 

and amortization, stock-based compensation, amortization 

of bond premium and gain on sale of fixed assets, were 

$14.0 million. Such earnings reflected a decrease in deferred 

income taxes of $1.5 million and were increased by changes 

in operating assets and liabilities of $0.8 million, resulting in 

$13.2 million of cash provided by operating activities. During 

2017, the Company expended $242,000 for the purchase 

of property, plant and equipment compared to $398,000 

during 2016, and  the Company paid $8.1 million and $8.2 

million in cash dividends in 2017 and 2016, respectively.  In 

addition, during 2017, the Company made $3.0 million of 

principal payments on its long-term debt.

Long-Term Debt

At February 26, 2017 and February 28, 2016, the Company 

had $72.0 million and $75.0 million of bank debt, respectively.  

In the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company entered into a 

four-year amended and restated revolving credit facility 

agreement (the “Amended Credit Agreement”) with PNC 

Bank, National Association. As previously reported, the 

Company entered into a three-year revolving credit facility 

agreement with HSBC Bank USA in January 2016, which 

replaced the credit facility agreement that the Company 

entered into with PNC Bank in February 2014. For additional 

information, see Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated 

Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Report. 

Other Liquidity Factors

The Company believes its financial resources will be 

sufficient, for the twelve months from the date of the filing 

of the Company’s Form 10-K Annual Report for the fiscal 

year ended February 26, 2017 and for the foreseeable future 

thereafter, to provide for continued investment in working 

capital and property, plant and equipment and for general 

corporate purposes. The Company’s financial resources are 

also available for purchases of the Company’s common 

stock, appropriate acquisitions and other expansions of the 

Company’s business.

The Company is not aware of any circumstances or events 

that are reasonably likely to occur that could materially 

affect its liquidity.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS:
The Company’s contractual obligations and other commercial 

commitments to make future payments under contracts, 

such as lease agreements, consist only of (i) operating lease 

commitments, commitments to purchase raw materials 

and commitments to purchase equipment, as described in 

Note 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

included elsewhere in this Report, and (ii) the long-term 

debt described above. The Company has no other long-

term debt, capital lease obligations, unconditional purchase 

obligations or other long-term obligations, standby letters of 

credit, guarantees, standby repurchase obligations or other 

commercial commitments or contingent commitments, 

other than two standby letters of credit in the total amount 

of $1.0 million to secure the Company’s obligations under its 

workers’ compensation insurance program. 

As of February 26, 2017 the Company’s significant contractual obligations, including payments due by fiscal year, were 

as follows:

Contractual Obligations
(Amounts in thousands) Total 2018

2019-
2020

2021-
2022

2023 and 
Thereafter

Operating lease obligations $ 9,683 $ 1,937 $ 3,403 $ 1,600 $2,743 

Bank debt 72,000 3,500 68,500 —   —   

Total $ 81,683 $ 5,437 $ 71,903 $ 1,600 $2,743 

At February 26, 2017, the Company had unrecognized tax 

benefits of $1.0 million. A reasonable estimate of the timing 

of the payment of these liabilities is not possible.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS:
The Company’s liquidity is not dependent on the use 

of, and the Company is not engaged in, any off-balance 

sheet financing arrangements, such as securitization of 

receivables or obtaining access to assets through special 

purpose entities.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS:
The Company is subject to various Federal, state and 

local govern ment and foreign government requirements 

relating to the protection of the environment. The Com-

pany believes that, as a general matter, its policies, 

practices and procedures are properly designed to prevent 

unreasonable risk of environmental damage and that its 

handling, manufacture, use and disposal of hazardous or 

toxic substances are in accord with environmental laws 

and regulations. However, mainly because of past opera-

tions and operations of predecessor companies, which 

were generally in compliance with applicable laws at the 

time of the operations in question, the Company, like other 

companies engaged in similar businesses, is a party to claims 

by govern ment agencies and third parties and has incurred 

remedial response and voluntary cleanup costs associated 

with environmental matters. Additional claims and costs 

involving past environmental matters may continue to 

arise in the future. It is the Company’s policy to record 

appropriate liabilities for such matters when remedial efforts 

are probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated.

In 2017, 2016 and 2015, the Company incurred approximately 

$84,000, $113,000 and $44,000, respectively, for remedial 

response and voluntary cleanup costs and related legal 

fees, and the Company received, or expects to receive, 

reimbursement pursuant to general liability insurance 

coverage for approximately $84,000, $111,000 and $21,000, 

respectively, of such amounts. While annual environmental 

remedial response and voluntary cleanup expenditures, 

including legal fees, have generally been constant from year 

to year, and may increase over time, the Company expects 

it will be able to fund such expenditures from cash flow 

from operations. The timing of expenditures depends on a 

number of factors, including regulatory approval of cleanup 

projects, remedial techniques to be utilized and agreements 

with other parties. At February 26, 2017 and February 28, 

2016, there were no amounts recorded in accrued liabilities 

for environmental matters. 

Management does not expect that environmental matters 

will have a material adverse effect on the liquidity, capital 

resources, busi ness, consolidated results of operations 

or consolidated financial position of the Company. See 

Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

included elsewhere in this Report for a discussion of the 

Company’s contin gencies, includ ing those related to 

environmental matters.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES:
The following information is provided regarding critical 

accounting policies that are important to the Consolidated 

Financial Statements and that entail, to a significant extent, 

the use of estimates, assumptions and the application of 

management’s judgment.

General

The Company’s discussion and analysis of its financial 

condition and results of operations are based upon the 

Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements, which have 

been prepared in accordance with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States. The preparation 

of these Financial Statements requires the Company to 

make estimates, assumptions and judgments that affect 

the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and 

expenses and the related disclosure of contingent liabilities. 

On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, 

including those related to sales allowances, allowances 

for doubtful accounts, inventories, valuation of long-lived 

assets, income taxes, restructurings, contingencies and 

litigation, and employee benefit programs. The Company 

bases its estimates on historical experience and on various 

other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under 

the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for 

making judgments about the carrying values of assets and 

liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 

Actual results may differ from these estimates under 

different assumptions or conditions.

The Company believes the following critical accounting 

policies affect its more significant judgments and estimates 

used in the preparation of its Consolidated Financial 

Statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncement

In November 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards 

Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update 

(“ASU”) No. 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance 

Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes, as part of the FASB’s 

Simplification Initiative to identify, evaluate, and improve 

areas of US GAAP for which cost and complexity can be 

reduced while maintaining or improving the usefulness of 

the information provided to users. The ASU simplifies the 

presentation of deferred income taxes under US GAAP 

by requiring that all deferred tax assets and liabilities be 

classified as non-current. For public companies, the ASU 

is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years 

beginning after  December 15, 2016 and interim reporting 

periods within those fiscal years. Earlier application is 
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permitted for all entities as of the beginning of an interim 

or annual reporting period. The Company elected to early 

adopt this guidance retrospectively in the fourth quarter 

of the Company’s 2016 fiscal year, and the early adoption 

of this guidance did not impact the Company’s results of 

operations, cash flows or financial condition.  

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues when products are 

shipped and title has been transferred to a customer, the 

sales price is fixed and determinable, and collection is 

reasonably assured. All material sales transactions are for 

the shipment of the Company’s products.

Sales Allowances and Product Warranties

The Company provides for the estimated costs of sales 

allowances at the time such costs can be reasonably 

estimated. The Company’s products are made to 

customer specifications and tested for adherence to such 

specifications before shipment to customers. Composite 

parts and assemblies may be subject to “airworthiness” 

acceptance by customers after receipt at the customers’ 

locations. There are no future performance requirements 

other than the products’ meeting the agreed specifications. 

The Company’s bases for providing sales allowances for 

returns are known situations in which products may have 

failed due to manufacturing defects in the products supplied 

by the Company. The Company is focused on manufacturing 

the highest quality printed circuit materials and advanced 

composite materials, parts and assemblies and tooling 

possible and employs stringent manufacturing process 

controls and works with raw material suppliers who have 

dedicated themselves to complying with the Company’s 

specifications and technical requirements. The amounts of 

returns and allowances resulting from defective or damaged 

products have been approximately 1.0% of sales for each of 

the Company’s last three fiscal years.

Accounts Receivable

The Company’s accounts receivable are due from purchasers 

of the Company’s products. Credit is extended based on 

evaluation of a customer’s financial condition and, generally, 

collateral is not required. Accounts receivable are due within 

established payment terms and are stated at amounts due 

from customers net of an allowance for doubtful accounts.  

Accounts outstanding longer than established payment 

terms are considered past due. The Company determines 

its allowance by considering a number of factors, including 

the length of time accounts receivable are past due, the 

Company’s previous loss history, the customer’s current 

ability to pay its obligation to the Company, and the 

conditions of the general economy and the electronics 

and aerospace industries. If the financial condition of the 

Company’s customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an 

impairment of their ability to make payments, additional 

allowances may be required. The Company writes off 

accounts receivable when they become uncollectible. 

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out 

method) or market. The Company writes down its inventory 

for estimated obsolescence or unmarketability based upon 

the age of the inventory and assumptions about future 

demand for the Company’s products and market conditions.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses the impairment of long-lived assets 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. In 

addition, the Company assesses the impairment of goodwill 

at least annually. Important factors that could trigger an 

impairment review include, but are not limited to, significant 

negative industry or economic trends and significant 

changes in the use of the Company’s assets or strategy of 

the overall business.

Income Taxes

As part of the processes of preparing its consolidated 

financial statements, the Company is required to estimate 

the income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which 

it operates. This process involves estimating the actual 

current tax expense together with assessing temporary 

differences resulting from differing treatment of items for 

tax and accounting purposes.  These differences result in 

deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included in 

the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. Deferred 

income taxes are provided for temporary differences in 

the reporting of certain items, such as depreciation and 

undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries, for income 

tax purposes compared to financial accounting purposes. 

In evaluating the Company’s ability to recover the deferred 

tax assets within the jurisdiction from which they arise, all 

positive and negative evidence is considered, including 

the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected 

future taxable income, tax planning strategies and results 

of recent acquisitions. If these estimates and assumptions 

change in the future, the Company may be required to 

record additional valuation allowances against its deferred 

tax assets, resulting in additional income tax expense in 

the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations, or 
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conversely to further reduce the existing valuation allowance, 

resulting in less income tax expense. The Company evaluates 

the realizability of the deferred tax assets and assesses the 

need for additional valuation allowances quarterly.

Tax benefits are recognized for an uncertain tax position 

when, in the Company’s judgment, it is more likely than not 

that the position will be sustained upon examination by a 

taxing authority. For a tax position that meets the more-

likely-than-not recognition threshold, the tax benefit is 

measured as the largest amount that is judged to have a 

greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate 

settlement with a taxing authority. The liability associated 

with unrecognized tax benefits is adjusted periodically 

due to changing circumstances and when new information 

becomes available. Such adjustments are recognized entirely 

in the period in which they are identified.  The effective tax 

rate includes the net impact of changes in the liability for 

unrecognized tax benefits and subsequent adjustments 

as considered appropriate by the Company. While it is 

often difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of 

resolution of any particular tax matter, the Company believes 

its liability for unrecognized tax benefits is adequate. Interest 

and penalties recognized on the liability for unrecognized 

tax benefits are recorded as income tax expense.

Contingencies and Litigation

The Company is subject to a number of proceedings, lawsuits 

and other claims related to environmental, employment, 

product and other matters. The Company is required to 

assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes 

in these matters as well as potential ranges of probable 

losses. A determination of the amount of reserves required, 

if any, for these contingencies is made after careful analysis 

of each individual issue. The required reserves may change 

in the future due to new developments in each matter 

or changes in approach, such as a change in settlement 

strategy in dealing with these matters.

Employee Benefit Programs

The Company’s obligations for workers’ compensation 

claims are effectively self-insured, although the Company 

maintains individual and aggregate stop-loss insurance 

coverage for such claims. The Company accrues its workers’ 

compensation liability based on estimates of the total 

exposure of known claims using historical experience and 

projected loss development factors less amounts previously 

paid out.

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have a non-

contributory profit sharing retirement plan covering their 

regular full-time employees. In addition, the Company’s 

subsidiaries have various bonus and incentive compensation 

programs, most of which are determined at management’s 

discretion.

The Company’s reserves associated with these self-insured 

liabilities and benefit programs are reviewed by management 

for adequacy at the end of each reporting period.
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Foreign Exchange Risk—The Company’s primary for eign 

currency exchange exposure relates to the translation of the 

financial statements of foreign subsidiaries using currencies 

other than the U.S. dollar as their functional currencies. 

The Company does not believe that a hypothetical 10% 

fluctuation in foreign exchange rates would have had a 

material impact on its consolidated results of operations or 

financial position. 

Interest Rate Risk—The exposure to market risks for changes 

in interest rates relates to the Company’s short-term 

investment portfolio and its variable rate borrowings under 

its long-term debt obligations pursuant to the three-year 

revolving credit facility agreement (“Credit Agreement”) 

with HSBC Bank USA, National Association. See Note 10 of 

the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included 

elsewhere in this Report. The Company does not use 

derivative financial instruments in its investment portfolio 

or its long-term debt obligations. The Company’s short-

term investment portfolio is managed in accordance with 

guidelines issued by the Company. These guidelines are 

designed to establish a high quality fixed income portfolio 

of government and highly rated corporate debt securities 

with a maximum weighted maturity of less than one year. 

Based on the average anticipated maturity of the investment 

portfolio at the end of the 2017 fiscal year, the Company 

does not believe that a hypothetical 10% fluctuation in short-

term interest rates would have had a material impact on the 

consolidated results of operations or financial position of 

the Company. The Company’s outstanding borrowings of 

$72.0 million, at February 26, 2017, represent 100% of the 

Company’s total long-term debt obligations. Outstanding 

borrowings bear interest at a rate equal to, at the Company’s 

option, either (a) a fluctuating rate per annum (computed 

on the basis of a year of 365 or 366 days, as the case may 

be, and actual days elapsed) equal to the Base Rate (as 

defined in the Credit Agreement), such interest rate to 

change automatically from time to time effective as of the 

effective date of each change in the Base Rate or (b) a rate 

per annum (computed on the basis of a year of 360 days 

and actual days elapsed) equal to the one, two, three  or six  

month LIBOR Rate  (as defined in the Credit Agreement) 

plus 1.15%. The Company does not believe that a hypothetical 

10% fluctuation in interest rates would have had a material 

impact on the consolidated results of operations or financial 

position of the Company. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS
PARK ELECTROCHEMICAL CORP.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance 

sheets of Park Electrochemical Corp. and subsidiaries as of 

February 26, 2017 and February 28, 2016, and the related 

consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive 

earnings, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of 

the three years in the period ended February 26, 2017. Park 

Electrochemical Corp.’s management is responsible for 

these consolidated financial statements. Our responsibility 

is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial 

statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards 

of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform 

the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 

the consolidated financial statements are free of material 

misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 

financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the 

accounting principles used and significant estimates made 

by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 

statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide 

a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred 

to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 

position of Park Electrochemical Corp. and subsidiaries as 

of February 26, 2017 and February 28, 2016, and the results 

of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three 

years in the period ended February 26, 2017, in conformity 

with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 

States of America. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of 

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States), Park Electrochemical Corp. and subsidiaries’ internal 

control over financial reporting as of February 26, 2017, 

based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated 

Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 

Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and 

our report dated May 12, 2017 expressed an unqualified 

opinion thereon.

Jericho, New York

May 12, 2017
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

February 26, 
2017

February 28, 
2016

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 102,438 $ 97,757 

Marketable securities (Note 2) 136,152 139,668 

Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $294 and $324, respectively 17,238 22,583 

Inventories (Note 3) 11,105 10,214 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (Note 4) 2,197 1,963 

Total current assets 269,130 272,185 

Property, plant and equipment, net 18,638 21,512 

Goodwill and other intangible assets (Note 3) 9,825 9,833 

Restricted cash 10,000 10,000 

Other assets (Note 4) 985 1,247 

Total assets $ 308,578 $ 314,777 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 10) $ 3,500 $ 3,000 

Accounts payable 4,183 6,155 

Accrued liabilities (Note 3) 3,417 4,580 

Income taxes payable 3,023 2,943 

Total current liabilities 14,123 16,678 

Long-term debt (Note 10) 68,500 72,000 

Deferred income taxes (Note 4) 42,088 43,937 

Other liabilities (Note 4) 1,041 1,295 

Total liabilities 125,752 133,910 

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 11 and 12)

Shareholders’ equity (Note 6):

Preferred stock, $1 par value per shares-authorized, 500,000 shares; issued, none — —

Common stock, $0.10 par value per shares-authorized, 60,000,000 shares; issued, 

20,965,144 shares 2,096 2,096 

Additional paid-in capital 167,612 166,398 

Retained earnings 27,112 25,922 

Accumulated other comprehensive earnings 1,026 1,471 

197,846 195,887 

Less treasury stock, at cost, 730,473 shares (15,020) (15,020)

Total shareholders’ equity 182,826 180,867 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 308,578 $ 314,777

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Fiscal Year Ended

February 26, 
2017

February 28, 
2016

March 1, 
2015

Net sales $ 114,609 $ 145,855 $ 162,086 

Cost of sales 84,568 103,103 113,133 

Gross profit 30,041 42,752 48,953 

Selling, general and administrative expenses 19,739 21,211 24,373 

Restructuring charges (Note 8) 313 535 1,179 

Earnings from operations 9,989 21,006 23,401 

Interest expense (Note 10) 1,432 1,657 1,438 

Interest and other income 1,704 1,149 827 

Earnings before income taxes 10,261 20,498 22,790 

Income tax provision (Note 4) 978 2,469 2,747 

Net earnings $ 9,283 $ 18,029 $ 20,043 

Earnings per share (Note 7):

Basic earnings per share $ 0.46 $ 0.89 $ 0.96 

Basic weighted average shares 20,235 20,347 20,912 

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.46 $ 0.89 $ 0.96 

Diluted weighted average shares 20,239 20,352 20,986 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS
(Amounts in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended

February 26, 
2017

February 28, 
2016

March 1, 
2015

Net earnings $ 9,283 $ 18,029 $ 20,043 

Other comprehensive earnings, net of tax:

Foreign currency translation 30 62 185 

Unrealized gains on marketable securities:

Unrealized holding gains arising during the period 76 52 90 

Less: reclassification adjustment for gains included in net earnings (228) (18) (21)

Unrealized losses on marketable securities:

Unrealized holding losses arising during the period (411) (156) (20)

Less: reclassification adjustment for losses included in net earnings 88 63 13 

Other comprehensive (loss) earnings (445) 3 247 

Total comprehensive earnings $ 8,838 $ 18,032 $ 20,290 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Accumulated
Additional Other 

Common Stock Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Treasury Stock

Shares Amount Capital Earnings Earnings Shares Amount

Balance, March 2, 2014 20,882,844 $ 2,088 $ 161,677 $ 35,651 $ 1,221 4,074 $ (94)

Net earnings —   —   —   20,043 —   —   —   

Foreign currency translation —   —   —   —   185 —   —   

Unrealized gain on 

marketable securities, 

net of tax —   —   —   —   62 —   —   

Stock options exercised 79,800 8 1,724 —   —   —   —   

Stock-based compensation —   —   1,418 —   —   —   —   

Purchase of treasury stock —   —   —   —   —   126,567 (2,738)

Cash dividends 

($1.90 per share) —   —   —   (39,646) —   —   —   

Balance, March 1, 2015 20,962,644 $ 2,096 $ 164,819 $ 16,048 $ 1,468 130,641 $ (2,832)

Net earnings —   —   —   18,029 —   —   —   

Foreign currency translation —   —   —   —   62 —   —   

Unrealized loss on 

marketable securities, 

net of tax —   —   —   —   (59) —   —   

Stock options exercised 2,500 —   44 —   —   —   —   

Stock-based compensation —   —   1,535 —   —   —   —   

Purchase of treasury stock —   —   —   —   —   599,832 (12,188)

Cash dividends 

($.40 per share) —   —   —   (8,155) —   —   —   

Balance, February 28, 2016 20,965,144 $ 2,096 $ 166,398 $ 25,922 $ 1,471 730,473 $ (15,020)

Net earnings —   —   —   9,283 —   —   —   

Foreign currency translation —   —   —   —   30 —   —   

Unrealized loss on 

marketable securities, 

net of tax —   —   —   —   (475) —   —   

Stock-based compensation —   —   1,214 —   —   —   —   

Cash dividends 

($.40 per share) —   —   —   (8,093) —   —   —   

Balance, February 26, 2017 20,965,144 $ 2,096 $ 167,612 $ 27,112 $ 1,026 730,473 $ (15,020)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands)

Fiscal Year Ended

February 26, 
2017

February 28, 
2016

March 1, 
2015

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net earnings $ 9,283 $ 18,029 $ 20,043 

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by 

operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 3,106 3,369 3,559 

Stock-based compensation 1,214 1,535 1,418 

Provision for deferred income taxes (1,533) (11,412) (2,815)

Amortization of bond premium 434 886 796 

Gain on sale of fixed assets —   (31) —   

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable 5,312 (1,152) 1,138 

Inventories (916) 4,225 (664)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (422) (131) 1,713 

Other assets and liabilities (229) 620 1,490 

Accounts payable (1,964) (727) 322 

Accrued liabilities (1,198) (65) 866 

Income taxes payable 80 (1,198) 1,145 

Net cash provided by operating activities 13,167 13,948 29,011 

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (242) (398) (430)

Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment —   2,057 —   

Purchases of marketable securities (72,827) (105,998) (100,074)

Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities 75,547 96,322 105,985 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 2,478 (8,017) 5,481 

Cash flows from financing activities:

Dividends paid (8,093) (8,155) (39,646)

Decrease (increase) in restricted cash —   (10,000) 25,000 

Proceeds from exercise of stock options —   44 1,732 

Proceeds from long-term debt —   75,000 —   

Payments of long-term debt (3,000) (94,000) (10,000)

Payments for debt issuance costs —   (196) (296)

Purchase of treasury stock —   (12,188) (2,738)

Net cash used in financing activities (11,093) (49,495) (25,948)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents before effect of 

exchange rate changes 4,552 (43,564) 8,544 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 129 (217) (156)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 4,681 (43,781) 8,388 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 97,757 141,538 133,150 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 102,438 $ 97,757 $ 141,538 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Three years ended February 26, 2017

(Amounts in thousands, except share (unless otherwise stated), per share and option amounts)

1.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Park Electrochemical Corp. (“Park”), through its subsidiaries 

(collectively, the “Company”), is a global advanced materials 

company which develops and manufactures advanced 

composite materials, primary and secondary structures and 

assemblies and low-volume tooling for the aerospace markets 

and high-technology digital and RF/microwave printed 

circuit materials principally for the telecommunications and 

internet infrastructure, enterprise and military markets.

a. Principles of Consolidation—The consolidated financial 

statements include the accounts of Park and its subsidiaries. 

All significant intercompany balances and transactions have 

been eliminated. 

b. Use of Estimates—The preparation of financial statements 

in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 

in the United States of America (“US GAAP”) requires 

management to make estimates and assumptions that 

affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial 

statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may 

differ from those estimates.

c. Accounting Period—The Company’s fiscal year is the 52 

or 53 week period ending the Sunday nearest to the last 

day of February. The 2017, 2016 and 2015 fiscal years ended 

on February 26, 2017, February 28, 2016 and March 1, 2015, 

respectively. Fiscal years 2017, 2016 and 2015 all consisted 

of 52 weeks.

d. Fair Value Measurements—Fair value is defined as the price 

that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer 

a liability (i.e., the “exit price”) in an orderly transaction 

between market participants at the measurement date. 

Fair value measurements are broken down into three levels 

based on the reliability of inputs as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability 

to access at the measurement date. An active market for 

the asset or liability is a market in which transactions for the 

asset or liability occur with sufficient frequency and volume 

to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. 

Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included 

within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include quoted 

prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets, inputs 

other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset 

or liability (e.g., interest rates and yield curves observable 

at commonly quoted intervals or current market) and 

contractual prices for the underlying financial instrument, as 

well as other relevant economic measures. 

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or 

liability. Unobservable inputs are used to measure fair value 

to the extent that observable inputs are not available, thereby 

allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, market 

activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date.

The fair value of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, 

accounts receivable, accounts payable and current liabilities 

approximate their carrying value due to their short-term 

nature. Due to the variable interest rates periodically 

adjusting with the current LIBOR, the carrying value of 

outstanding borrowings under the Company’s long-term 

debt approximates its fair value. (See Note 10). Certain 

assets and liabilities of the Company are required to be 

recorded at fair value on either a recurring or non-recurring 

basis. On a recurring basis, the Company records its 

marketable securities at fair value using Level 1 or Level 2 

inputs. (See Note 2).

The Company’s non-financial assets measured at fair value 

on a non-recurring basis include goodwill and any long-lived 

assets written down to fair value. To measure fair value of 

such assets, the Company uses Level 3 inputs consisting 

of techniques including an income approach and a market 

approach. The income approach is based on a discounted 

cash flow analysis and calculates the fair value by estimating 

the after-tax cash flows attributable to a reporting unit and 

then discounting the after-tax cash flows to a present value 

using a risk-adjusted discount rate. Assumptions used in 

the discounted cash flow analysis require the exercise of 

significant judgment, including judgment about appropriate 

discount rates, terminal values, growth rates and the amount 

and timing of expected future cash flows. There were no 

transfers between levels within the fair value hierarchy 

during the 2017 and 2016 fiscal years. 

e. Cash and Cash Equivalents—The Company considers all 

money market securities and investments with contractual 

maturities at the date of purchase of 90 days or less to be 

cash equivalents. The Company had $29,942 and $39,968 in 

debt securities included in cash equivalents at February 26, 

2017 and February 28, 2016, respectively, which were valued 

based on Level 2 inputs. Certain of the Company’s cash and 

cash equivalents are in excess of U.S. government insurance. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

$237,743 of the $248,590 of cash and marketable securities 

and restricted cash at February 26, 2017 was owned by 

certain of the Company’s wholly owned foreign subsidiaries.

The Company classifies amounts required by the Credit 

Agreement described in Note 10 to be maintained in cash and 

marketable securities as restricted cash on the consolidated 

balance sheets. 

Supplemental cash flow information:

Fiscal Year

 2017 2016 2015

Cash paid during the year for:

Income taxes, net of refunds $3,648 $14,728 $1,707 

Interest 1,342 1,119 1,380 

At February 26, 2017 and February 28, 2016, the Company 

held $22,218 and $28,878, respectively, of cash and cash 

equivalents in foreign financial institutions.

f. Marketable Securities—All marketable securities are 

classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair value, 

with the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, included 

in comprehensive earnings. Realized gains and losses, 

amortization of premiums and discounts, and interest and 

dividend income are included in interest and other income, 

net. The cost of securities sold is based on the specific 

identification method. 

g. Inventories—Inventories are stated at the lower of 

cost (first-in, first-out method) or market. The Company 

writes down its inventory for estimated obsolescence or 

unmarketability based upon the age of the inventory and 

assumptions about future demand for the Company’s 

products and market conditions.

h. Revenue Recognition—The Company recognizes revenues 

when products are shipped and title has been transferred 

to a customer, the sales price is fixed and determinable, 

and collection is reasonably assured. All material sales 

transactions are for the shipment of the Company’s products.

i. Sales Allowances and Product Warranties—The Company 

provides for the estimated costs of sales allowances at 

the time such costs can be reasonably estimated. The 

Company’s products are made to customer specifications 

and tested for adherence to specifications before shipment 

to customers. Composite parts and assemblies may be 

subject to “airworthiness” acceptance by customers after 

receipt at the customers’ locations. There are no future 

performance requirements other than the products’ 

meeting the agreed specifications. The Company’s bases for 

providing sales allowances for returns are known situations 

in which products may have failed due to manufacturing 

defects in products supplied by the Company. The Company 

is focused on manufacturing the highest quality products 

and employs stringent manufacturing process controls 

and works with raw material suppliers who have dedicated 

themselves to complying with the Company’s specifications 

and technical requirements. The amounts of returns and 

allowances resulting from defective or damaged products 

have been less than 1.0% of sales for each of the Company’s 

last three fiscal years.

j. Accounts Receivable—The Company’s accounts receivable 

are due from purchasers of the Company’s products.  Credit 

is extended based on evaluation of a customer’s financial 

condition and, generally, collateral is not required. Accounts 

receivable are due within established payment terms 

and are stated at amounts due from customers net of an 

allowance for doubtful accounts. Accounts outstanding 

longer than established payment terms are considered past 

due. The Company determines its allowance by considering 

a number of factors, including the length of time accounts 

receivable are past due, the Company’s previous loss history, 

the customer’s current ability to pay its obligation to the 

Company, and the conditions of the general economy and 

the electronics and aerospace industries. If the financial 

condition of the Company’s customers were to deteriorate, 

resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, 

additional allowances may be required. The Company writes 

off accounts receivable when they become uncollectible. 

k. Valuation of Long-Lived Assets—The Company assesses 

the impairment of long-lived assets whenever events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of 

such assets may not be recoverable. Important factors  

that could trigger an impairment review include, but are not 

limited to, significant negative industry or economic trends 

and significant changes in the use of the Company’s assets 

or strategy of the overall business. No impairments of  

long-lived assets were identified in the 2017, 2016 or 2015 

fiscal years.

l. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets—Goodwill is not 

amortized.  Other intangible assets are amortized over the 

useful lives, which is 15 years, of the assets on a straight-line 

basis. The Company tests for impairment of intangible assets 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. 

With respect to goodwill, the Company first assesses 

qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely 

than not that the fair value is less than the carrying value. If, 

based on that assessment, the Company believes it is more 

likely than not that the fair value is less than the carrying 

value, a two-step goodwill impairment test is performed. 

The Company assesses the impairment of goodwill at 

least annually. The Company conducts its annual goodwill 

impairment test as of the first day of the fourth quarter. The 

Company concluded that there was no impairment in the 

2017, 2016 or 2015 fiscal years.

m. Shipping Costs—The amounts paid by the Company to 

third-party shippers for transporting products to customers, 

which are not reimbursed by customers, are classified as 

selling expenses. The shipping costs included in selling, 

general and administrative expenses were approximately 

$2,354, $2,855 and $3,398 for the 2017, 2016 and 2015 fiscal 

years, respectively.

n. Property, Plant and Equipment—Property, plant and 

equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 

and amortization. The Company capitalizes additions, 

improvements and major renewals and expenses 

maintenance, repairs and minor renewals as incurred. 

Depreciation and amortization are computed principally by 

the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 

the assets. Machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures are 

generally depreciated over 10 years. Building and leasehold 

improvements are generally depreciated over 25-30 years 

or the term of the lease, if shorter. The depreciation and 

amortization expenses associated with property, plant and 

equipment were $3,106, $3,369 and $3,559 for the 2017, 

2016 and 2015 fiscal years, respectively.

o. Income Taxes—Deferred income taxes are provided for 

temporary differences in the reporting of certain items, 

such as depreciation and undistributed earnings of foreign 

subsidiaries, for income tax purposes compared to financial 

accounting purposes. In evaluating the Company’s ability 

to recover the deferred tax assets within the jurisdiction 

from which they arise, all positive and negative evidence 

is considered, including the scheduled reversal of deferred 

tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax planning 

strategies and results of recent acquisitions. If these estimates 

and assumptions change in the future, the Company may be 

required to record additional valuation allowances against 

its deferred tax assets, resulting in additional income tax 

expense in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of 

Operations, or conversely to further reduce the existing 

valuation allowance, resulting in less income tax expense. 

The Company evaluates the realizability of the deferred 

tax assets and assesses the need for additional valuation 

allowances quarterly. 

Tax benefits are recognized for an uncertain tax position 

when, in the Company’s judgment, it is more likely than not 

that the position will be sustained upon examination by a 

taxing authority. For a tax position that meets the more-

likely-than-not recognition threshold, the tax benefit is 

measured as the largest amount that is judged to have a 

greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate 

settlement with a taxing authority. The liability associated 

with unrecognized tax benefits is adjusted periodically 

due to changing circumstances and when new information 

becomes available. Such adjustments are recognized entirely 

in the period in which they are identified. The effective tax 

rate includes the net impact of changes in the liability for 

unrecognized tax benefits and subsequent adjustments 

as considered appropriate by the Company. While it is 

often difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of 

resolution of any particular tax matter, the Company believes 

its liability for unrecognized tax benefits is adequate. Interest 

and penalties recognized on the liability for unrecognized 

tax benefits are recorded as income tax expense.

p. Foreign Currency Translation—Assets and liabilities of 

foreign subsidiaries using currencies other than the U.S. 

dollar as their functional currency are translated into U.S. 

dollars at period-end exchange rates or historical exchange 

rates, where applicable, and income and expense items 

are translated at average exchange rates for the period. 

Gains and losses resulting from translation are recorded as 

currency translation adjustments in comprehensive earnings.

q. Stock-Based Compensation—The Company accounts 

for employee stock options, the only form of equity 

compensation issued by the Company, as compensation 

expense based on the fair value of the options on the date of 

grant and recognizes such expense on a straight-line basis 

over the four-year service period during which the options 

become exercisable. The Company determines the fair value 

of such options using the Black-Scholes option pricing 

model. The Black-Scholes option pricing model incorporates 

certain assumptions relating to risk-free interest rate, 

expected volatility, expected dividend yield and expected 

life of options, in order to arrive at a fair value estimate.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

r. Treasury Stock—The Company considers all shares of 

the Company’s common stock purchased by the Company 

as authorized but unissued shares on the trade date. The 

aggregate purchase price of such shares is reflected as a 

reduction to Shareholders’ Equity, and such shares are held 

in treasury at cost.

2.  MARKETABLE SECURITIES
The following is a summary of available-for-sale securities:

February 26, 2017

 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3

U.S. Treasury and 

other government 

securities $ 111,261 $ 111,261 $ —  $  — 

U.S. corporate debt 

securities 24,891  24,891   —  — 

Total marketable 

securities $ 136,152  $ 136,152   $ —   $  — 

February 28, 2016

 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3

U.S. Treasury and 

other government 

securities $ 118,194 $ 118,194  $ —  $  — 

U.S. corporate debt 

securities 21,474  21,474   —  — 

Total marketable 

securities $139,668  $139,668   $ —   $  — 

The following tables show the amortized cost basis, gross 

unrealized gains and losses and gross realized gains and 

losses on the Company’s available-for-sale securities:

 

Amortized 

Cost Basis 

Gross 

Unrealized 

Gains 

Gross 

Unrealized 

Losses

February 26, 2017:

U.S. Treasury and other 

government securities $ 111,727  $  136  $  602 

U.S. corporate debt securities  24,938  1  48 

Total marketable securities $ 136,665   $  137   $  650 

February 28, 2016:

U.S. Treasury and other 

government securities $ 117,897  $  372  $  74 

U.S. corporate debt securities  21,554  — 81 

Total marketable securities $ 139,451   $  372   $  155 

Fiscal Year

 2017  2016  2015

Gross realized gains on sale $ —  $ —  $ 17 

Gross realized losses on sale $ —   $ —  $ 44 

The estimated fair values of such securities at February 26, 

2017, by contractual maturity, are shown below:

Due in one year or less $ 53,250 

Due after one year through five years 82,902 

 $ 136,152 

3.  OTHER BALANCE SHEET DATA
Other balance sheet data consisted of the following:

February 26, 

2017

February 28, 

2016

Inventories:

Raw materials $  5,842  $  5,462 

Work-in-process 2,329 2,215 

Finished goods 2,585 2,172 

Manufacturing supplies  349   365 

  $  11,105   $  10,214 

Property, plant and equipment:

Land, buildings and improvements $  39,822  $  39,915 

Machinery, equipment, furniture 

and fixtures 129,696  130,143 

169,518 170,058 

Less: accumulated depreciation and 

amortization 150,880  148,546 

 $  18,638  $  21,512 

Goodwill and other intangible assets:

Goodwill $  9,776 $  9,776 

Other intangibles  49   57 

 $  9,825  $  9,833 

Accrued liabilities:

Payroll and payroll related  $  1,361  $  2,078 

Employee benefits  147  279 

Workers’ compensation  154  241 

Professional fees  578  762 

Restructuring (Note 8)  16  64 

Other 1,161  1,156 

  $  3,417   $  4,580 
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Property, Plant and Equipment—The New England Laminates 

Co., Inc. building in Newburgh, New York is held for sale. In 

the 2004 fiscal year, the Company reduced the book value 

of the building to zero, and the Company intends to sell it 

during the 2018 fiscal year. The Company sold the Nelco 

Technology (Zhuhai FTZ) Ltd. building for $2,026 during the 

2016 fiscal year. There was no gain or loss on the sale of the 

building, since the carrying value of the building was equal 

to the selling price.

4.  INCOME TAXES
The income tax provision includes the following:

Fiscal Year  

   2017  2016  2015 

Current:

Federal $ (532) $  10,118 $ — 

State and local  (40)  (120)  (39)

Foreign 3,083  3,883   5,601     

   2,511  13,881   5,562  

Deferred:

Federal  (369) (11,273) (2,238)

State and local  (590)  (205)  (290)

Foreign  (574)  66   (287) 

   (1,533) (11,412) (2,815) 

   $ 978  $  2,469  $ 2,747  

State income tax benefits from loss carryforwards to future 

years were recognized as deferred tax assets in the 2017, 

2016 and 2015 fiscal years.

The Company continuously evaluates the liquidity and capital 

requirements of its operations in the United States and of 

its foreign subsidiaries. As a result of such evaluations, the 

Company repatriated $6,800, $61,000 and $0 in cash from 

Nelco Products Pte Ltd.  in the 2017, 2016 and 2015 fiscal 

years, respectively.

The Company’s pre-tax earnings from the United States and 

foreign locations are as follows:

Fiscal Year  

   2017  2016  2015 

United States $ (4,742) $  (3,331) $ (6,704)

Foreign 15,003  23,829   29,494  

Earnings before income taxes $ 10,261  $ 20,498  $ 22,790  

The Company’s effective income tax rate differs from 

the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate as a result of 

the following:

Fiscal Year 

   2017 2016 2015 

Statutory U.S. Federal tax rate 34.0 % 35.0 % 34.0 %

State and local taxes, net of 

Federal benefit 2.4% 1.2% (1.1%)

Foreign tax rate differentials (24.4%) (21.0%) (22.2%)

Valuation allowance on deferred 

tax assets (5.3%) (0.2%) 0.6 %

Adjustment on tax accruals 6.8 % 3.3 % 1.3 %

Foreign tax credits (3.3%) (1.1%) (0.5%)

Deferred tax liability on 

undistributed foreign earnings (3.4%) (4.5%) —   

Permanent differences and other 2.7 % (0.7%) —    

   9.5 % 12.0 % 12.1 %

The Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of 

$0 in the 2017 and 2016 fiscal years, state net operating loss 

carryforwards of approximately $16,343 and $10,083 in the 

2017 and 2016 fiscal years, respectively, and total net foreign 

operating loss carryforwards of approximately $30,647 and 

$30,871 in the 2017 and 2016 fiscal years, respectively. The 

foreign net operating loss carryforwards were not utilized in 

the 2016 fiscal year and the Company has set up a valuation 

allowance for such carryforwards. The state net operating 

loss carryforwards will expire in 2018 through 2037.

The Company had foreign tax credit carryforwards of $258 

and $524 at February 26, 2017 and February 28, 2016, 

respectively, which expire in 2027. As of February 26, 2017 

and February 28, 2016, research and development and other 

credits were $47 and $0, respectively.

The Company had New York State investment tax credit 

carryforwards of $0 and $478 in the 2017 and 2016 fiscal 

years, respectively.   The New York State investment tax 

credits expired in fiscal year 2017.  The Company had Kansas 

tax credits of $225 in both fiscal years 2017 and 2016, for 

which no benefit has been provided. The Company does not 

believe that realization of the principal portion of the Kansas 

tax credit or the investment tax credit carryforward is more 

likely than not.  The Kansas credits do not have expiration 

dates.   The Company had Arizona tax credits of $135 in 

both fiscal years 2017 and 2016, for which no benefit has 

been provided.
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The deferred tax asset valuation allowance of $10,571 as of 

February 26, 2017 relates to foreign net operating losses and 

state tax credit carryforwards for which the Company does 

not expect to realize any tax benefit. During the 2017 fiscal 

year, the valuation allowance decreased by $544 primarily 

due to the expiration of the New York State investment 

tax credit carryforwards for which no tax benefit was 

recognized. Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects 

of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 

amounts for income tax purposes. 

Significant components of the Company’s deferred 

tax assets and liabilities as of February 26, 2017 and 

February 28, 2016 were as follows:

  
February 26, 

2017

February 28, 

2016 

Deferred tax assets:

Depreciation and amortization   $  3,740   $  3,761 

Net operating loss carryforwards 11,049 10,800 

Tax credits carryforward  677 1,363 

Stock options 1,865 1,925 

Other, net  282   578  

17,613 18,427 

Valuation allowance on deferred 

tax assets  (10,571)  (11,115)

Total deferred tax assets, net of 

valuation allowance 7,042  7,312 

Deferred tax liabilities:

Depreciation (572) (526)

Undistributed earnings  (47,509)  (48,865)

Other (781)  (1,281)

Total deferred tax liabilities  (48,862)  (50,672)

Net deferred tax liability $(41,820) $(43,360)

On the Consolidated Balance Sheets, the deferred tax asset, 

net of valuation allowance, of $268 at February 26, 2017 

was included in other assets and the deferred tax asset, net 

of valuation allowance, of $584 at February 28, 2016 was 

included in prepaid expenses and other current assets. 

At February 26, 2017 and February 28, 2016, the Company 

had gross unrecognized tax benefits of $1,041 and $1,295, 

respectively, included in other liabilities.  If any portion of 

the unrecognized tax benefits at February 26, 2017 were 

recognized, the Company’s effective tax rate would change. 

As discussed in Note 16, on February 28, 2016 the Company 

early adopted Accounting Standards Update 2015-17 

Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of 

Deferred Taxes on a prospective basis. The early adoption 

of this guidance did not impact the Company’s results of 

operations, cash flows or financial condition.  

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of 

unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

Unrecognized Tax Benefits  

 

February 26, 

2017

February 28, 

2016

March 1, 

2015 

Balance, beginning of year $ 1,255 $  1,135 $ 276 

Gross decreases-tax 

positions in prior period (293) — (21)

Gross increases-current 

period tax positions  274  271  880 

Audit settlements (42) (57) — 

Lapse of statute of limitations (170) (94) —  

Balance, end of year $ 1,024  $  1,255  $  1,135  

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits may increase or 

decrease in the future for various reasons, including adding 

or subtracting amounts for current year tax positions, 

expiration of statutes of limitations on open income tax 

years, changes in the Company’s judgment about the level 

of uncertainty, status of tax examinations, and legislative 

changes. Changes in prior period tax positions are the result 

of a re-evaluation of the probability of realizing the benefit 

of a particular tax position based on new information. It 

is reasonably possible that none of the unrecognized tax 

benefits will be recognized in the 2018 fiscal year upon the 

expiration of statutes of limitations.

A list of open tax years by major jurisdiction follows:

California 2014-2017

New York 2012-2017

France 2014-2017

Singapore 2013-2017
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The Company had approximately $16 and $51 of accrued 

interest and penalties as of February 26, 2017 and February 

28, 2016, respectively. The Company’s policy is to include 

applicable interest and penalties related to unrecognized 

tax benefits as a component of current income tax expense. 

The New York State Department of Taxation is examining 

the Company’s tax returns for the 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015 

fiscal years.

5.  STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
As of February 26, 2017, the Company had a 2002 Stock 

Option Plan (the “Plan”) and no other stock-based 

compensation plan. The Plan has been approved by the 

Company’s shareholders and provides for the grant of stock 

options to directors and key employees of the Company. All 

options granted under the Plan have exercise prices equal to 

the fair market value of the underlying common stock of the 

Company at the time of grant, which, pursuant to the terms 

of the Plan, is the reported closing price of the common stock 

on the New York Stock Exchange on the date preceding the 

date the option is granted. Options granted under the Plan 

become exercisable 25% one year after the date of grant, with 

an additional 25% exercisable each succeeding anniversary 

of the date of grant, and expire 10 years after the date of 

grant. Options to purchase a total of 1,800,000 shares of 

common stock were authorized for grant under the Plan. At 

February 26, 2017, 1,466,030 shares of common stock of the 

Company were reserved for issuance upon exercise of stock 

options under the Plan, and 395,501 options were available 

for future grant under the Plan. 

The compensation expense for stock options includes an 

estimate for forfeitures and is recognized on a straight-line 

basis over the requisite service period.

The future compensation expense to be recognized in 

earnings before income taxes for options outstanding 

at February 26, 2017 was $1,852, which is expected to be 

recognized ratably over a weighted average vesting period 

of 2.02 years. 

The Company records its stock-based compensation at 

fair value. The weighted average fair value for options was 

estimated at the dates of grants, using the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model. 

The following table represents the weighted average fair 

value and valuation assumptions used for options granted in 

the 2017, 2016 and 2015 fiscal years:

Fiscal Year

 2017 2016 2015

Weighted average 

fair value per 

share of option 

grants $3.15 $5.30 $8.05 

Risk-free 

interest rates 1.77% 1.57 - 1.86% 2.03 - 2.18%

Expected stock 

price volatility 28.9% 27.91 - 31.71% 31.07 - 31.59%

Expected 

dividend yields 2.23% 1.84 - 2.76% 1.34 - 1.77%

Estimated 

option terms

5.3 

Years

5.3 - 7.9 

Years

7.8 

Years

The risk-free interest rates are based on U.S. Treasury rates 

at the date of grant with maturity dates approximately 

equal to the estimated term of the options at the date of 

the grant. Volatility factors are based on historical volatility 

of the Company’s common stock. The expected dividend 

yields are based on the regular quarterly cash dividend 

per share most recently declared by the Company and on 

the exercise price of the options granted during the 2017 

fiscal year. The estimated terms of the options are based on 

evaluations of the historical and expected future employee 

exercise behavior.

During the fourth quarter of the 2015 fiscal year, the 

Company’s Board of Directors approved a reduction of $1.50 

per share in the exercise price of all outstanding options as a 

result of the special cash dividend of $1.50 per share paid by 

the Company in February 2015. The reduction in the exercise 

price was treated as a modification of the stock options for 

accounting purposes.  The modification, based on the fair 

value of the options both immediately before and after the 

modification, resulted in total incremental compensation 

expenses of $47 and $131 for the 2017 and 2016 fiscal years, 

respectively, which were recorded in selling, general and 

administrative expenses.
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Information with respect to stock option activity follows:

 

Outstanding 

Options 

Weighted 

Average 

Exercise 

Price  

Weighted 

Average 

Remaining 

Contractual 

Term 

(in years)  

Aggregate 

Intrinsic 

Value

Balance, 

March 2, 2014  1,081,117  $23.84 

Granted 18,000  25.81 

Exercised  (79,800)  21.49 

Terminated or 

expired  (52,625)  24.21 

Granted under 

option 

modification 996,892  22.55 

Cancelled 

under option 

modification  (996,892)  24.05 

 

Balance, 

March 1, 2015 966,692  $22.55 

Granted 379,450  17.82 

Exercised  (2,500)  19.91 

Terminated or 

expired  (117,250)  21.53 

 

Balance, 

February 28, 2016  1,226,392  $21.19 

Granted 1,250  14.07 

Exercised — — 

Terminated or 

expired  (157,113)  21.66 

Balance, 

February 26, 2017  1,070,529  $21.08  5.52  $ — 

Vested and 

exercisable, 

February 26, 

2017 762,217  $22.07  4.40  $ — 

Expected to vest, 

February 26, 2017  1,009,509   $21.08    5.52   $ — 

The aggregate intrinsic values realized (the market value 

of the underlying shares on the date of exercise, less the 

exercise price, times the number of shares acquired) from 

the exercise of options during the 2017, 2016 and 2015 fiscal 

years were $0, $4 and $688, respectively. 

A summary of the status of the Company’s non-vested 

options at February 26, 2017, and changes during the fiscal 

year then ended, is presented below:

 

Shares 

Subject to 

Options  

Weighted 

Average 

Grant Date 

Fair Value

Non-vested, beginning of year 504,867  $8.27 

Granted 1,250  3.15 

Vested  (136,505)  6.44 

Terminated or expired  (61,300 )  7.84 

Non-vested, end of year 308,312   $6.09 

6.  SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Treasury Stock—On January 8, 2015, the Company 

announced that its Board of Directors has authorized the 

Company’s purchase, on the open market and in privately 

negotiated transactions, of up to 1,250,000 shares of its 

common stock, representing approximately 6% of the 

Company’s 20,945,634 total outstanding shares as of the 

close of business on January 7, 2015. This authorization 

superseded all prior Board of Directors’ authorizations to 

purchase shares of the Company’s common stock.

On March 10, 2016, the Company announced that its Board of 

Directors authorized the Company’s purchase, on the open 

market and in privately negotiated transactions, of up to 

1,000,000 additional shares of its common stock, in addition 

to the unused prior authorization to purchase shares of the 

Company’s common stock announced on January 8, 2015. 

As a result, the Company is authorized to purchase up to a 

total of 1,531,412 shares of its common stock, representing 

approximately 7.6% of the Company’s 20,234,671 total 

outstanding shares as of the close of business on May 5, 2017.

During the 2016 fiscal year, the Company purchased 599,832 

shares pursuant to the above authorizations at an aggregate 

purchase price of $12,187, leaving 1,531,412 shares that may 

be purchased pursuant to the January 8, 2015 and March 10, 

2016 authorizations.

Reserved Common Shares—At February 26, 2017, 1,466,030 

shares of common stock were reserved for issuance upon 

exercise of stock options.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Earnings—Accumulated 

balances related to each component of other comprehensive 

earnings were as follows:

February 26, 

2017

February 28, 

2016

Currency translation adjustment $ 1,360 $ 1,330 

Unrealized gains (losses) on 

investments, net of taxes of 

$(180) and $76, respectively (334) 141

Accumulated balance $ 1,026  $ 1,471 

7.  EARNINGS PER SHARE 
Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing net 

earnings by the weighted average number of shares of 

common stock outstanding during the period. Diluted 

earnings per share are computed by dividing net earnings 

by the sum of (a) the weighted average number of shares 

of common stock outstanding during the period and (b) 

the potential common stock equivalents outstanding during 

the period. Stock options are the only common stock 

equivalents; and the number of dilutive options is computed 

using the treasury stock method.

The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and 

diluted earnings per share:

Fiscal Year

(Amounts in thousands, 

except per share amounts) 2017  2016  2015

Net earnings $ 9,283 $  18,029 $ 20,043 

Weighted average common 

shares outstanding for 

basic EPS 20,235 20,347 20,912

Net effect of dilutive options  4   5   74 

Weighted average shares 

outstanding for diluted EPS 20,239  20,352  20,986

Basic earnings per share $  0.46  $  0.89  $  0.96 

Diluted earnings per share $  0.46  $  0.89  $  0.96 

Potentially dilutive stock options, which were not included 

in the computation of diluted earnings per share because 

either the effect would have been antidilutive or the options’  

exercise prices were greater than the average market price 

of the common stock, were 884,905, 919,509 and 192,063 

for the 2017, 2016 and 2015 fiscal years, respectively.

8.  RESTRUCTURING CHARGES 
The Company paid $0 and $100 of additional pre-tax 

restructuring charges during the 2017 and 2016 fiscal years, 

respectively, related to the closure in the 2013 fiscal year of 

the Company’s Nelco Technology (Zhuhai FTZ) Ltd. business 

unit located in Zhuhai, China. The Company sold the Nelco 

Technology (Zhuhai FTZ) Ltd. building for $2,026 during the 

2016 fiscal year. There was no gain or loss on the sale of the 

building, since the carrying value of the building was equal 

to the selling price.  

The Company recorded additional restructuring charges of 

$313 and $435 in the 2017 and 2016 fiscal years, respectively, 

related to the closure in the 2009 fiscal year of the Company’s 

New England Laminates Co., Inc. business unit located in 

Newburgh, New York. The New England Laminates Co., Inc. 

building in Newburgh, New York is held for sale. In the 2004 

fiscal year, the Company reduced the book value of the 

building to zero, and the Company intends to sell it during 

the 2018 fiscal year.

In the 2015 fiscal year, the Company recorded a $496 charge 

in connection with cost reduction initiatives in the United 

States. During the 2016 and 2015 fiscal years, the Company 

paid $504 of charges related to such cost reduction 

initiatives, and there is no remaining liability related to such 

initiatives.

9.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
Profit Sharing Plan—The Company and certain of its 

subsidiaries have a non-contributory profit sharing retirement 

plan covering substantially all full-time employees in the 

United States. The plan may be modified or terminated at any 

time, but in no event may any portion of the contributions 

revert back to the Company. The Company’s estimated 

contributions are accrued at the end of each fiscal year and 

paid to the plan in the subsequent fiscal year. The Company’s 

contributions to the plan were $212 and $100 for fiscal years 

2016 and 2015, respectively. The contribution for fiscal year 

2017 has not been determined or paid. Contributions are 

discretionary and may not exceed the amount allowable as a 

tax deduction under the Internal Revenue Code.

Savings Plan—The Company also sponsors a 401(k) savings 

plan, pursuant to which the contributions of employees of 

certain subsidiaries were partially matched by the Company 

in the amounts of $101, $112 and $123 in the 2017, 2016 and 

2015 fiscal years, respectively.
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10.  LONG-TERM DEBT
On January 15, 2016, the Company entered into a three-year 

revolving credit facility agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) 

with HSBC Bank USA, National Association (“HSBC Bank”).   

This Credit Agreement replaced the Amended Credit 

Agreement that the Company entered into with PNC Bank in 

February 2014. The Credit Agreement provides for loans up 

to $75,000 and letters of credit up to $2,000. During the 2016 

fiscal year, the Company made no payments in accordance 

with the Credit Agreement. The $75,000 is payable in twelve 

quarterly installments of $750 each, with the remaining 

amount outstanding under the Credit Agreement payable 

on January 26, 2019. Pursuant to an amendment entered 

into on April 21, 2017, the first and second installments due 

in the 2018 fiscal year were increased from $750 to $1,000. 

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest 

at a rate equal to, at the Company’s option, either (a) a 

fluctuating rate per annum (computed on the basis of a 

year of 365 or 366 days, as the case may be, and actual 

days elapsed) equal to the Base Rate, such interest rate to 

change automatically from time to time effective as of the 

effective date of each change in the Base Rate or (b) a rate 

per annum (computed on the basis of a year of 360 days 

and actual days elapsed) equal to the one, two, three or six 

month LIBOR Rate plus 1.15%.  Under the Credit Agreement, 

the Company is also obligated to pay to HSBC Bank a 

nonrefundable commitment fee equal to 0.10% per annum 

(computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and actual 

days elapsed) multiplied by the average daily difference 

between the amount of (i) the revolving credit commitment 

plus the letter of credit facility and (ii) the revolving facility 

usage, payable quarterly in arrears.

On January 5, 2017, the Company entered into an amendment 

to the Credit Agreement (the “Amended Credit Agreement”) 

with HSBC Bank that modified the LIBOR interest rate and 

certain covenants.  Under the Amended Credit Agreement, 

the LIBOR interest rate will be equal to the one, two, three, 

or six month LIBOR plus (a) 1.65% through April 5, 2017, (b) 

1.90% from April 6, 2017 through July 5, 2017, (c) 2.15% from 

July 6, 2017 through October 5, 2017 and (d) 2.65% after 

October 5, 2017.

The Credit Agreement and the Amended Credit Agreement 

contain certain customary affirmative and negative 

covenants, including customary financial covenants. The 

covenants require the Company to (a) maintain a gross  

leverage charge ratio not to exceed 4.50 to 1.00 for the 

fiscal quarters ending February 26, 2017 and May 28, 2017, 

4.25 to 1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending August 27, 2017 

and 3.75 to 1.00 each fiscal quarter thereafter, (b) maintain 

a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 0.30 to 1.00 for 

the fiscal quarter ending February 26, 2017, 0.20 to 1.00 for 

the fiscal quarter ending May 28, 2017, 0.50 to 1.00 for the 

fiscal quarter ending August 27, 2017 and 1.10 to 1.00 for each 

fiscal quarter thereafter, and (c) maintain a minimum quick 

ratio of 2.00 to 1.00 beginning with the fiscal quarter first 

ending after January 26, 2016 and continuing thereafter.  In 

addition, the Company must maintain minimum domestic 

liquid assets of $10,000 in cash held at all times in a domestic 

deposit account. The Company is in compliance with all the 

financial covenants.

At February 26, 2017, $72,000 of indebtedness was 

outstanding under the Credit Agreement with an interest 

rate of 2.49%. Interest expense recorded under both the PNC 

Bank Amended Credit Agreement and the Credit Agreement 

was approximately $1,432, $1,365 and $1,438 during the 2017, 

2016 and 2015 fiscal years, respectively, which is included 

in interest expense on the Consolidated Statements of 

Operations. In addition, the Company accelerated the 

deferred financing costs of $292 which related to the PNC 

Bank Amended Credit Agreement that was recorded as 

interest expense in the fourth quarter of the 2016 fiscal year.

At February 26, 2017, scheduled principal maturities of 

long-term debt were as follows:

Fiscal Year Amount

2018 $ 3,500 

2019  68,500 

 72,000 

Less current portion:  3,500 

 $ 68,500 

11.  COMMITMENTS
The Company conducts certain of its operations in leased 

facilities, which include several manufacturing plants, 

warehouses and offices. The leases of facilities are for terms 

of up to 10 years, the latest of which expires in 2021. Many 

of the leases contain renewal options for periods ranging 

from one to ten years and require the Company to pay real 

estate taxes and other operating costs. The latest land lease 

expiration is 2040.
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These non-cancelable leases have the following payment 

schedule:

Fiscal Year Amount

2018 $ 1,937 

2019 1,709 

2020 1,694 

2021 1,262 

2022 338 

Thereafter 2,743 

 $ 9,683 

Rental expenses, inclusive of real estate taxes and other 

costs, were $2,018, $2,774 and $2,881 for the 2017, 2016 and 

2015 fiscal years, respectively. 

12.  CONTINGENCIES

Litigation

The Company is subject to a number of proceedings, lawsuits 

and other claims related to environmental, employment, 

product and other matters. The Company is required to 

assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes 

in these matters as well as potential ranges of probable 

losses. A determination of the amount of reserves required, 

if any, for these contingencies is made after careful analysis 

of each individual issue. The required reserves may change 

in the future due to new developments in each matter or 

changes in approach, such as a change in settlement 

strategy in dealing with these matters. The Company 

believes that the ultimate disposition of such proceedings, 

lawsuits and claims will not have a material adverse effect 

on the liquidity, capital resources, business or consolidated 

results of operations or financial position of the Company.

Environmental Contingencies 

The Company and certain of its subsidiaries have been 

named by the Environmental Protection Agency (the “EPA”) 

or a comparable state agency under the Comprehensive 

Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act 

(the “Superfund Act”) or similar state law as potentially 

responsible parties in connection with alleged releases of 

hazardous substances at four sites. 

Under the Superfund Act and similar state laws, all parties 

who may have contributed any waste to a hazardous waste 

disposal site or contaminated area identified by the EPA or 

comparable state agency may be jointly and severally liable 

for the cost of cleanup. Generally, these sites are locations at  

which numerous persons disposed of hazardous waste. In the 

case of the Com pany’s subsidiaries, generally the waste was 

removed from their manufacturing facilities and disposed 

at waste sites by various companies which contracted 

with the subsidiaries to provide waste disposal services. 

Neither the Company nor any of its sub sidiaries have been 

accused of or charged with any wrongdoing or illegal acts 

in connection with any such sites. The Company believes it 

maintains an effective and comprehensive environmental 

compliance program.

The insurance carriers who provided general liability 

insurance coverage to the Company and its subsidiaries for 

the years dur ing which the Company’s subsidiaries’ waste 

was disposed at these sites have in the past reimbursed the 

Company and its subsidiaries for 100% of their legal defense 

and remediation costs associated with three of these sites. 

The total costs incurred by the Company and its subsidiaries 

in connection with these sites, including legal fees incurred 

by the Company and its subsidiaries and their assessed share 

of remediation costs and excluding amounts expected to be 

reimbursed by insurance carriers, were approximately $0, $2 

and $23 in the 2017, 2016 and 2015 fiscal years, respectively. 

The Company had no recorded liabilities for environmental 

matters for the 2017 and 2016 fiscal years.

Such recorded liabilities do not include environmental 

liabilities and related legal expenses for which the 

Company believes that it and its subsidiaries have general 

liability insurance coverage for the years during which the 

Company’s subsidiaries’ waste was disposed at three sites 

for which certain subsidiaries of the Company have been 

named as potentially responsible parties. Pursuant to such 

general liability insurance coverage, three insurance carriers 

reimburse the Company and its subsidiaries for 100% of the 

legal defense and remediation costs associated with the 

three sites. 

Included in selling, general and administrative expenses 

are charges for actual expenditures and accruals, based 

on estimates, for certain environmental mat ters described 

above. The Company accrues estimated costs asso ciated 

with known environmental matters, when such costs can 

be reasonably estimated and when the outcome appears 

probable. The Company believes that the ultimate disposition 

of known environmental matters will not have a material 

adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, cash 

flows or financial position.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13.  GEOGRAPHIC REGIONS
The Company is a global advanced materials company 

which develops and manufactures advanced composite 

materials, primary and secondary structures and assemblies 

and low-volume tooling for the aerospace markets and 

high-technology digital and RF/microwave printed circuit 

materials principally for the telecommunications and 

internet infrastructure, enterprise and military markets.  The 

Company’s products are sold to customers in North America, 

Asia and Europe.  The Company’s manufacturing facilities are 

located in Kansas, Singapore, France, Arizona and California.  

The Company operates as a single operating segment, which 

is advanced materials for the electronics and aerospace 

markets, with common management and identical or very 

similar economic characteristics, products, raw materials, 

manufacturing processes and equipment, customers and 

markets, marketing, sales and distribution methods and 

regulatory environments. The chief operating decision 

maker reviews financial information on a consolidated basis. 

Sales are attributed to geographic region based upon the 

region in which the materials were delivered to the customer. 

Sales between geographic regions were not significant. 

Financial information regarding the Company’s operations 

by geographic region is as follows:

Fiscal Year

 2017  2016  2015

Sales:

North America $ 60,949 $  75,215 $  75,395 

Asia 44,613 61,264 76,000 

Europe 9,047  9,376  10,691 

Total sales $ 114,609  $ 145,855  $ 162,086 

Long-lived assets:

North America $  20,794 $  22,846 $  23,562 

Asia 8,440 9,478 12,490 

Europe  214   268   325 

Total long-lived assets $  29,448  $  32,592  $  36,377 

14.  CUSTOMER AND SUPPLIER 
CONCENTRATIONS

Customers—Sales to TTM Technologies Inc. were 16.2% and 

13.8% for the 2017 and 2016 fiscal years, respectively.  During 

the Company’s 2015 fiscal year, the Company did not have 

sales to any customer that equaled or exceeded 10% of the 

Company’s worldwide sales.

While no other customer accounted for 10% or more of 

the Company’s total worldwide sales in the 2017 or 2016 

fiscal years, the loss of a major customer or of a group 

of customers could have a material adverse effect on the 

Company’s business or consolidated results of operations or 

financial position.

Sources of Supply—The principal materials used in the 

manufacture of the Company’s high-technology printed 

circuit materials and advanced composite materials, parts 

and assemblies are specially manufactured copper foil, 

fiberglass cloth and synthetic reinforcements, and specially 

formulated resins and chemicals. Although there is a 

limited number of qualified suppliers of these materials, the 

Company has nevertheless identified alter nate sources of 

supply for many of such materials. While the Company has 

not experienced significant problems in the delivery of these 

materials and considers its relationships with its suppliers 

to be strong, a disruption of the supply of material from a 

principal supplier could adversely affect the Company’s 

business. Furthermore, substitutes for these materials are 

not readily available, and an inability to obtain essential 

materials, if prolonged, could materially adversely affect the 

Company’s business. 

15.  SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On April 18, 2017, the Company announced the consolidation 

of its Nelco Products, Inc. subsidiary located in Fullerton, 

California and its Neltec, Inc. subsidiary located in Tempe, 

Arizona. The consolidation is expected to take four to six 

months to complete. When complete, all business functions 

will be performed at Neltec in Tempe, Arizona and certain 

manufacturing operations will be combined and performed 

at Neltec. 

Park expects to incur a pre-tax charge in connection with 

the consolidation of approximately $5,000 to $5,500. This 

charge is expected to be incurred primarily during the 

first nine months of the fiscal year ending February 25, 

2018. In addition to this charge, the Company expects to 

incur duplicative pre-tax costs of $300 during the same 

nine-month period. When the consolidation is complete, 

the Company expects an ongoing pre-tax benefit from the 

consolidation of approximately $3,000 to $3,500 per year.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16.  ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Recently Adopted

In November 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards 

Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update 

(“ASU”) No. 2015-17,  Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance 

Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes, as part of the FASB’s 

Simplification Initiative to identify, evaluate, and improve 

areas of US GAAP for which cost and complexity can be 

reduced while maintaining or improving the usefulness of 

the information provided to users. The ASU simplifies the 

presentation of deferred income taxes under US GAAP 

by requiring that all deferred tax assets and liabilities be 

classified as non-current. For public companies, the ASU 

is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years 

beginning after  December 15, 2016 and interim reporting 

periods within those fiscal years. Earlier application is 

permitted for all entities as of the beginning of an interim 

or annual reporting period. The Company elected to early 

adopt this guidance retrospectively in the fourth quarter 

of the Company’s 2016 fiscal year, and the early adoption 

of this guidance did not impact the Company’s results of 

operations, cash flows or financial condition.  

Recently Issued

In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, 

Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash, to 

reduce the diversity that exists in the classification and 

presentation of changes in restricted cash in the statement 

of cash flows. The new standard is effective for fiscal 

years beginning after December 15, 2017 and the interim 

periods within those fiscal years.  The Company is currently 

evaluating the impact this new guidance may have on its 

consolidated cash flows.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement 

of Cash Flows (Topic 230) Classification of Certain Cash 

Receipts and Cash Payments, to reduce the diversity in how 

certain cash receipts and cash payments are presented and 

classified in the statement of cash flows.  The new standard 

is effective for fiscal years beginning  after December 15, 

2017 and the interim periods within those fiscal years.  The 

Company is currently evaluating the impact that this new 

guidance may have on its consolidated cash flows.

In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-09, 

Compensation – Stock Compensation (Topic 718): 

Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment 

Accounting, to improve the accounting for employee 

share-based payments. The new standard is effective for 

fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016 and the 

interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company has 

concluded that this guidance will not have a significant 

impact on its consolidated results of operations, cash flows, 

financial position and disclosures.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, 

Leases (Topic 842), intended to increase transparency and 

comparability among companies by requiring most leases 

to be included on the balance sheet and by expanding 

disclosure requirements, effective for public business entities 

for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including 

interim periods within those fiscal years. Early application is 

permitted for all public business entities and all nonpublic 

business entities upon issuance.  The Company is currently 

evaluating the impact that this new guidance may have on 

its consolidated results of operations, cash flows, financial 

position and disclosures.

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards 

Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606,  Revenue from Contracts 

with Customers, which supersedes the revenue recognition 

requirements in ASC Topic 605, Revenue Recognition, 

including most industry-specific revenue recognition 

guidance throughout the Industry Topics of the Codification. 

This guidance requires that an entity recognize revenue 

to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 

customers in an amount that reflects the consideration 

to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 

those goods or services, and expands the related disclosure 

requirements.  The new standard was originally scheduled 

to be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 

2016, including interim reporting periods within those fiscal 

years. In August 2015, the FASB delayed the effective date of 

this guidance for one year. With the delay, the new standard 

is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 

2017, and interim periods therein, with an option to adopt 

the standard on the originally scheduled effective date. The 

Company has concluded that this new guidance will not have 

a significant impact on its consolidated results of operations, 

cash flows, financial position and disclosures.
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SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) 
(Amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Quarter

  First  Second  Third  Fourth

Fiscal 2017:

Net sales $ 31,490 $ 29,058 $ 26,462 $ 27,599 

Gross profit 8,787 7,234 6,634 7,386 

Net earnings 2,950 1,981 1,875 2,477 

Basic net earnings per share $  0.15 $  0.10 $  0.09 $  0.12 

Diluted net earnings per share $  0.15 $  0.10 $  0.09 $  0.12 

Weighted average common shares  outstanding:

Basic 20,235 20,235 20,235 20,235 

Diluted 20,235 20,235 20,235 20,253 

Fiscal 2016:

Net sales $  37,829 $  37,947 $ 34,323 $ 35,756 

Gross profit 11,367 10,361 10,297 10,727 

Net earnings 4,777 4,569 4,109 4,574 

Basic net earnings per share $  0.23 $  0.23 $  0.20 $  0.23 

Diluted net earnings per share $  0.23 $  0.23 $  0.20 $  0.23 

Weighted average common shares  outstanding:

Basic 20,546 20,337 20,253 20,251 

Diluted 20,565  20,340  20,253  20,251 

Earnings per share are computed separately for each quarter. There fore, the sum of such quarterly per share amounts may 

differ from the total for each year.



The management of the Company is responsible for 

establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over 

financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) 

under the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal control 

over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable 

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 

the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 

in the United States of America. The Company’s internal 

control over financial reporting includes those policies and 

procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records 

that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company, (ii) 

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 

as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 

and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are 

being made only in accordance with authorizations of 

management and directors of the Company, and (iii) provide 

reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 

detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of 

the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on 

the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 

financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 

Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future 

periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 

inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 

degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 

deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s 

internal control over financial reporting as of February 

26, 2017. In making this assessment, management used 

the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring 

Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in 

Internal Control–Integrated Framework (2013). Based on 

management’s assessment and those criteria, management 

concluded that the Company maintained effective internal 

control over financial reporting as of February 26, 2017.

The independent registered public accounting firm that 

audited the Company’s 2017 fiscal year consolidated financial 

statements included in this Annual Report has issued an 

audit report on the Company’s internal control over financial 

reporting as of February 26, 2017. That report appears in this 

Annual Report under the heading “Report of Independent 

Registered Public Accounting Firm”.

Park Electrochemical Corp. and Subsidiaries 

MANAGEMENT’S ANNUAL REPORT 
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS 

PARK ELECTROCHEMICAL CORP.

We have audited Park Electrochemical Corp. and subsidiaries’  

internal control over financial reporting as of February 26, 

2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control - 

Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of 

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission 

(COSO). Park Electrochemical Corp.’s management is 

responsible for maintaining effective internal control over 

financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness 

of internal control over financial reporting included in the 

accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal 

Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to 

express an opinion on Park Electrochemical Corp. and 

subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting based 

on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards 

of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 

(United States). Those standards require that we plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether effective internal control over financial reporting 

was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included 

obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial 

reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness 

exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating 

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk 

and performing such other procedures as we considered 

necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit 

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting 

is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 

preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 

accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 

in the United States of America. A company’s internal 

control over financial reporting includes those policies and 

procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records 

that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;  

(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 

statements in accordance with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America, and that 

receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 

only in accordance with authorizations of management 

and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection 

of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the 

company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 

financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over 

financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 

Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future 

periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 

inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 

the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures 

may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, Park Electrochemical Corp. and subsidiaries 

have maintained, in all material respects, effective internal 

control over financial reporting as of February 26, 2017, based 

on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated 

Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 

Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of 

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States), the consolidated financial statements of Park 

Electrochemical Corp. and subsidiaries as of February 26, 

2017 and February 28, 2016 and for each of the three years 

in the period ended February 26, 2017 and our report dated 

May 12, 2017, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Jericho, New York 

May 12, 2017
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SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT

This Report may contain “forward-looking statements”, as 

defined under the Federal Securities Laws, including the 

Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Certain 

portions of this Report which do not relate to historical 

financial information may be deemed to constitute  forward-

looking statements. Generally, you can identify forward-

looking statements by the use of words such  as “expect”, 

“estimate”, “project”, “budget”, “forecast”, “anticipate”, 

“goal”, “intend”, “plan”, “may”, “will”, “could”, “should”, 

“believes”, “predicts”, “potential”, “continue”, and similar 

expressions or the negative or other variations thereof. 

Such forward-looking statements are based on current 

expectations that involve a number of uncertainties and risks 

that may cause actual events or results to differ materially 

from the Company’s expectations or from results which might 

be projected, forecasted, estimated or budgeted by the 

Company in forward-looking statements. Factors that could 

cause actual events or results to differ materially include, 

but are not limited to, general conditions in the electronics 

and aerospace industries, the Company’s competitive 

position, the status of the Company’s relationships with its  

customers, economic conditions in international markets, 

the cost and availability of raw materials, transportation 

and utilities, and the various other factors  set forth in Item 

1A “Risk Factors” and under the caption “Factors That May 

Affect Future Results” after Item 7 of the Company’s Annual 

Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 

26, 2017. These and other risks may be detailed from time 

to time in the Company’s periodic reports filed with the 

Securities and Exchange Commission, including, but not 

limited to, its fiscal year 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K 

and other SEC filings, copies of which may be obtained from 

www.sec.gov. The Company is  under no obligation to (and 

expressly disclaims any such obligation to) update any of 

the information contained herein if any forward-looking 

statement later turns out to be inaccurate whether as a 

result of new information, future events or otherwise.

The Company’s common stock is listed and trades on the 

New York Stock Exchange (trading symbol PKE). (The  

common stock also trades on the Chicago Stock Exchange.) 

The following table sets forth, for each of the quarterly 

periods indicated, the high and low sales prices for the 

Common Stock as reported on the New York Stock 

Exchange Composite Tape and dividends declared on the 

common stock.

For the Fiscal Year Ended 

February 26, 2017

Stock Price Dividends

High Low Declared

First Quarter $16.82 $14.06 $0.10

Second Quarter 17.50 14.05 0.10

Third Quarter 18.76 13.76 0.10

Fourth Quarter 19.83 17.56 0.10

For the Fiscal Year Ended 

February 28, 2016

Stock Price Dividends

High Low Declared

First Quarter $23.63 $20.30 $0.10

Second Quarter 22.58 16.60 0.10

Third Quarter 18.58 16.08 0.10

Fourth Quarter 17.74 13.65 0.10

As of May 5, 2017, there were 575 holders of record of 

common stock.

MARKET FOR THE COMPANY’S COMMON EQUITY,  
AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
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STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The graph set forth below compares the annual cumulative 

total return for the Company’s five fiscal years ended 

February 26, 2017 among the Company, the New York 

Stock Exchange Market Index (the “NYSE Index”) and a 

Zachs Investment Research, Inc. (formerly Morningstar, Inc., 

formerly Hemscott, Inc.) index for electronic components 

and accessories manufacturers (the “Group Index”) 

comprised of the Company and 222 other companies. 

The companies in the Group Index are classified in the 

same three-digit industry group in the Standard Industrial 

Classification Code system and are described as companies 

primarily engaged in the manufacture of electronic 

components and accessories. The returns of each company 

in the Group Index have been weighted according to the 

company’s stock market capitalization. The graph has been  

prepared based on an assumed investment of $100  

on February 24, 2012 and the reinvestment of dividends 

(where applicable).

  2012   2013   2014   2015   2016   2017

Park Electrochemical Corp.  $ 100.00  $ 93.50  $ 117.35  $ 96.99  $ 64.59  $ 89.85

Group Index  $ 100.00 $ 97.79  $ 123.28  $ 158.66  $ 140.70  $ 205.76

NYSE Index  $ 100.00  $ 112.15  $ 135.17  $ 146.99  $ 131.31  $ 161.81
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PARK ELECTROCHEMICAL CORP. is a global advanced materials company which develops and manufactures 

advanced composite materials, primary and secondary structures and assemblies and low-volume tooling for 

the aerospace markets and high-technology digital and RF/microwave printed circuit materials principally 

for the telecommunications and internet infrastructure, enterprise and military markets. The Company’s 

manufacturing facilities are located in Kansas, Singapore, France, Arizona and California. The Company also 

maintains R & D facilities in Arizona, Kansas and Singapore.
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